Meeting:
Date/Time:
Location:
Contact:
Email:

Health and Wellbeing Board
Thursday, 24 May 2018 at 2.00 pm
Guthlaxton Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield
Mr M Hand (Tel: 0116 305 2583)
Matthew.hand@leics.gov.uk
Membership
Mrs. P. Posnett CC (Chairman)
John Adler
Mr. R. Blunt CC
Karen English
Cllr. J. Kaufman
Dr Andy Ker
Dr Saquib Muhammad
Dr Mayur Lakhani
Chief Supt Andy Lee
Roz Lindridge
DPCC Kirk Master

Paul Meredith
Rick Moore
Mr. I. D. Ould CC
Cllr Alan Pearson
Mike Sandys
John Sinnott
Jane Toman
Caroline Trevithick
Jon Wilson

AGENDA
Item

Report by

1.

Minutes of the meeting held on 22 March 2018
and Action Log.

2.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

3.

Declarations of interest in respect of items on
the agenda.

4.

Position Statement from the Chairman.

(Pages 3 - 10)

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall
Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk
www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy

www.leicestershire.gov.uk

Strategy.
5.

Leicestershire Children and Families
Partnership Plan 2018/2021.

Director of
Children and
Family Services

(Pages 11 - 36)

6.

Draft Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Dementia Strategy 2019-2022

Director of Adults
and Communities

(Pages 37 - 58)

7.

Implementation of the Personalised
Commissioning Service Standard Operating
Procedures.

East Leicestershire (Pages 59 - 62)
and Rutland
Clinical
Commissioning
Group

8.

Mental Health Transformation Programme.

Leicestershire
Partnership NHS
Trust

(Pages 63 - 82)

9.

Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding
Children Board Business Plan 2018/19.

Independent Chair
of the
Safeguarding
Boards

(Pages 83 - 98)

10.

Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding
Adults Board Business Plan 2018/19.

Independent Chair
of the
Safeguarding
Boards

(Pages 99 112)

Performance
11.

Better Care Fund Q4 2017/18 Performance.

Director of Health
and Care
Integration

(Pages 113 120)

12.

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Transforming Care Plan.

Director of Adults
and Communities

(Pages 121 128)

13.

Healthwatch Leicestershire Annual Review
2017/18.

Healthwatch

(Pages 129 166)

Healthwatch

(Pages 167 188)

Governance
14.

Introduction to Healthwatch Leicester City and
Leicestershire.

15.

Date of next meeting.
The next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be held on
12 July 2018 at 2.00pm.

16.

Any other items which the Chairman has
decided to take as urgent.

3

Agenda Item 1

Minutes of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held at County Hall, Glenfield on
Thursday, 22 March 2018.
PRESENT
Mrs. P. Posnett CC (in the Chair)
Leicestershire County Council
Mr. I. D. Ould CC

Mike Sandys
Jon Wilson

Clinical Commissioning Groups
Dr Andy Ker
Dr Satheesh Kumar
Dr Chris Trzcinski
Leicestershire District and Borough Councils
Councillor Jeffrey Kaufman
Councillor Alan Pearson

Jane Toman

Healthwatch Leicestershire
Rick Moore
In attendance
Wendy Hoult
Sian Walls
Mark Wightman
Paul Gibara

NHS England
Leicestershire Police
University Hospitals of Leicester
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

Apologies
John Adler, Toby Sanders, Caroline Trevithick, Mr. R. Blunt CC, Paul Meredith, Kirk
Master, Chief Supt Andy Lee and John Sinnott.
60.

Minutes.
The minutes of the meeting held on 25 January 2018 were taken as read, confirmed and
signed.

61.

Urgent Items.
There were no urgent items for consideration.

4
62.

Declarations of interest.
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
Dr Andy Ker declared a personal interest in the report on Pharmaceutical Needs
Assessment (Minute No 66) as he was a partner in a dispensing GP practice.
Mrs. P. Posnett CC declared a personal interest in the report on Section 106 Monies and
the New Single Process for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (Minute No 64) as she
was a member of the Planning Committee for Melton Borough Council.

63.

Position Statement from the Chairman.
The Chairman presented a position statement on the following matters:





The Lightbulb project winning an award at the Local Government Chronicle
awards
Leicestershire Food Plan
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Carer’s Strategy
A selection of regional and national publications and news

Particular reference was made to the Leicestershire Food Plan, which had been
presented to the meeting of the Leicestershire County Council on 21 March and had
been very well received.
A copy of the position statement is filed with these minutes.
64.

Section 106 Monies and the New Single Process for Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland.
The Board received a presentation from West Leicestershire and East Leicestershire and
Rutland CCGs on the process for managing Section 106 Healthcare Contributions. A
copy of the presentation is filed with these minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:(i)

The CCGs were now responsible for the management of primary care estates
and facilitation of Section 106 contributions. Effective working relationships
were being built with the district and borough councils, with regular meetings
taking place to discuss and influence plans.

(ii)

The approach to Section 106 contributions from CCGs was welcomed but
concern was expressed that there appeared to be a disparity between the
ways in which the CCGs operated and it was suggested that there needed to
be greater alignment between the two. Efforts were being made to ensure
alignment but this was made difficult due to an uneven distribution of general
practices across areas.

(iii)

It was noted that any Section 106 funding was capital money and this enabled
it to be used for things such as increasing access for patients at a practice and
equipment. It was also stated that the money was not purely for general

5
practice, but could also be used by other health partners such as dentists and
pharmacists.
(iv)

An issue was the fact that any Section 106 money received was often in
phases. A consistent process had now been put in place to ensure that, in the
future, funding would be made available at the start of a development where
possible.

(v)

Concern was expressed in relation to a new housing development in Oadby
and the fact that no application for Section 106 money had been received from
the local CCG. It was not possible to apply for money retrospectively, but
details of the development and the proposal for a further expansion would be
passed on to the relevant officers in East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG.

(vi)

It was queried whether there was a time limit in which the Section 106 money
had to be spent. This varied, dependent on the amount of the contribution.
However, the CCGs monitored this to ensure that any money was spent in the
appropriate time.

RESOLVED:
That the presentation be noted.
65.

Delayed Transfers of Care Performance.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Health and Care Integration which
provided a progress update on the Better Care Fund (BCF) target for improving delayed
transfers of care (DTOC). The report detailed performance along with current progress
locally across health and care to reduce delays. A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda
Item 6’, is filed with these minutes.
In January, the average number of days delayed per day, per 100,000 adult population
had been 8.57 against a target of 6.80. Despite improvements, the January target for
Leicestershire had therefore not been achieved. However, the level achieved was better
than the national target for delayed transfers of care of no more than 9.4 days delayed
per day, per 100,000 adult population.
A detailed joint action plan was being progressed to improve the DTOC position and an
update was provided on the actions undertaken. Lots of work had been achieved,
particularly considering the fact that some DTOCs, especially for mental health or
learning disability in-patients, were more complex and it could be difficult to identify an
immediate discharge solution, for example where specialised accommodation was
needed.
National BCF Operational Guidance for 2018/19 would be published in the near future
and it was expected that this would include a new BCF DTOC target for 2018/19. An
update on these developments would be given at the May meeting of the Health and
Wellbeing Board.
NHS England’s Regional Better Care Fund Lead, Wendy Hoult, commended the work
undertaken by Leicestershire on DTOC and acknowledged that the DTOC target was not
easy to achieve. She confirmed that NHS Elect was supporting LLR to reduce the
number of complex DTOCs in community settings.

6

RESOLVED:
a) That the progress report be received;
b) That the actions in progress be noted;
c) That it be noted that the report has been forwarded to the Discharge Working
Group (DWG) and the Director of Urgent Care for Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland (LLR) in support of their oversight of DTOC performance on an LLR-wide
basis.
66.

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health which provided the
findings of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA). A copy of the report, marked
‘Agenda Item 7’, is filed with these minutes.
The PNA concluded that community based pharmacies were meeting the current needs
of the Leicestershire population for essential, advanced and enhanced services. A
number of recommendations had arisen from the PNA around equity of service,
promoting the optimal use of pharmacy services in promoting health and healthcare
management and the implications of implementing Community Pharmacy 2016/17 and
beyond. These would be kept under review.
It was stated that the landscape of health care in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
was changing through local and national policy developments which were underway, but
their full impact on Community Pharmacy was not yet known. Appendix K to the report
provided an overview of the current developments and this would be updated annually to
reflect developments as they arose. Any findings would be reported to the Health and
Wellbeing Board.
It was acknowledged that there had been a low response to the public consultation,
despite it having been publicised. It was expected that this was because it was a low
interest topic. The Board was assured that detailed comments had been received from
stakeholders and 61 pharmacists had responded to the survey.
The PNA did not address future requirements and how pharmacies could develop further
to meet the needs of the population. However, the analysis in this PNA document
provided the basis for considering these matters further. In particular, the PNA did not
comment on the value or cost effectiveness of current services such as dispensing GP
practices, nor did it consider how pharmacy services linked to the rest of the local health
and care system. It was suggested that the expertise that had gone into developing the
PNA could be used to consider these issues, in the context of the new models of care
being implemented via the LLR Sustainability and Transformation Partnership.
RESOLVED:
a) That the report be noted;
b) That approval be given for the PNA to be published;

7
c) That the Director of Public Health and respective CCG Directors of Primary Care
be requested to undertake some further work regarding how pharmacies should
respond to future population changes and how pharmacies could fit into the
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership, and report back to a future meeting
of the Health and Wellbeing Board.
67.

Quick Poll: I Matter - Bradgate Mental Health Unit.
The Board considered a report of Healthwatch Leicestershire presenting the findings of a
quick poll survey where Healthwatch Leicestershire had listened to patient experiences of
the Bradgate Mental Health Unit (BMHU). A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 8’,
is filed with these minutes.
There had been 42 individual responses to the questionnaire, providing a snapshot of
what was working well and what could be improved. The emerging findings from the
survey were presented and Healthwatch Leicestershire had suggested a number of
recommendations.
Concern was expressed that there were still a number of issues at BMHU and that further
consideration should be given to its operation. It was confirmed that improvements had
been made at the Unit following three CQC inspections but further improvements were
still required. The work being undertaken was part of the healthier mind campaign and
the five year transformation programme. It was felt that the issues related to the entire
mental health pathway, not just the BHMU, and it was suggested that the Leicestershire
Partnership Trust be requested to report to a future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing
Board on its Mental Health Transformation Programme.
RESOLVED:
a) That the findings be noted and health and social care partners be urged to
consider actions to improve services, systems and processes outlined in the
report;
b) That the Leicestershire Partnership Trust be requested to report to a future
meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board on its Mental Health Transformation
Programme.

68.

Healthwatch Recommissioning.
The Board considered a report of the Chief Executive providing an update on
recommissioning a Healthwatch service for Leicester and Leicestershire. A copy of the
report, marked ‘Agenda Item 9’, is filed with these minutes.
Tenders for the delivery of a new Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire contract from
1 April 2018 had been invited. The successful tender had been that submitted by
Engaging Communities Staffordshire Community Interest Company (ECS). The
transition from the existing Healthwatch providers to ECS was currently taking place
including TUPE transfers, identification of premises and the offer of options for transfer to
existing Healthwatch members and Boards. Representatives of the new provider would
make a presentation to the next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board around the
organisation background, delivery structure, work programme and business plan
proposals.

8
Members wished to record their thanks to Rick Moore, the existing Chair of Healthwatch
Leicestershire, for his excellent contribution to the work of the Health and Wellbeing
Board.
RESOLVED:
That the report be noted.
69.

Date of next meeting.
It was noted that the next meeting of the Board would take place on 24 May 2018 at
2.00pm where one of the main items on the agenda would be the Children and Families
Partnership Plan.

2.00 – 3.05pm
22 March 2018

CHAIRMAN

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.
349(d)

367(c)

10

27

56(d)
66(c)

Action

Responsible
Officer
05/01/17 Submit a report on the Local Digital Roadmap to Vikesh Tailor
a future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing
Board.
16/03/17 Request the Unified Prevention Board to take
Mike Sandys
forward Leicestershire specific work actions from
the LLR Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action
Plan and report back to the Health and
Wellbeing Board when appropriate.
22/06/17 Request to provide feedback on Integrated
Locality Teams test beds to a future meeting of
the Health and Wellbeing Board
20/07/17 That an update on the progress of the Health
and Social Care Sector Growth Plan be
presented to a future meeting of the Health and
Wellbeing Board
16/11/17 That the joint priorities between health and crime
be presented to a future meeting of the Health
and Wellbeing Board
25/01/18 That the Health and Wellbeing Board receives
further reports on progress of the JSNA.
22/03/18 That the Director of Public Health and respective
CCG Directors of Primary Care be requested to
undertake some further work regarding how
pharmacies should respond to future population
changes and how pharmacies could fit into the
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership,
and report back to a future meeting of the Health
and Wellbeing Board

Comments

Status

A report is scheduled for a future meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board.

GREEN

Six monthly updates from the Unified Prevention
Board are scheduled for the Health and Wellbeing
Board.

GREEN

Cheryl Davenport A report is scheduled for a future meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board.

GREEN

Jon Wilson

An update is scheduled for the July 2018 meeting of
the Health and Wellbeing Board

GREEN

Sian Walls/ Mike
Sandys

A report will be provided to a future meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board

GREEN

A report will be provided to a future meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board

GREEN

9

37

Date

Caroline Boucher
Mike Sandys

1

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.

Date

Action

67(b)

22/03/18 That the Leicestershire Partnership Trust be
requested to report to a future meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board on its Mental
Health Transformation Programme.

Responsible
Officer
Dr Satheesh
Kumar

Comments

Status

A report is on the agenda for the May meeting of the
Health and Wellbeing Board

GREEN

10
2

11

Agenda Item 5

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 24th MAY 2018
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY
SERVICES
LEICESTERSHIRE CHILDREN AND FAMILIES PARTNERSHIP
PLAN 2018 - 2021
Purpose of the Report
1. The purpose of this report is to present the draft Children and Families Plan for
2018 – 2021 for approval.
Link to the Local Health and Care System
2. The Children and Families Partnership plan is aligned the Strategic Plan and
Children and Families Departmental Plan and focuses on the added value of
approaching strategic priorities in across the Partnership to ensure consistent
communication and service delivery to Children and Families.
Recommendation
3. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to approve the draft Children and
Families Partnership Plan 2018 -21.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4. In November 2016 the Health and Wellbeing Board approved the terms of
reference for a Children and Families Partnership to replace the Supporting
Leicestershire Families Executive as a subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing
Board. The expanded remit included oversight of how the priorities for children
and families as set out in the draft Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, are
delivered.
5. In September 2017 the Health and Wellbeing Board approved proposals by the
Children and Families Partnership for minor amendments to the wording of the
outcomes in the draft Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy that related to children
and young people to:






Ensure the best start in life
Safe and free from harm
Support families to be self-sufficient and resilient
Ensure vulnerable families receive personalised, integrated care and
support
Enable children to have good physical and mental health

Background
6. The Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership is a sub-group of the
Health and Wellbeing Board and is made up of the key organisations that work

12

with children, young people and their families across Leicestershire, such as
education, health, police and social care.
7. The purpose of the Children and Families Partnership is to champion effective
partnership working, so that together it has shared priorities and delivers
outcomes that make a real difference to the lives of children and young people.
By working together it can also maximise partnership resources and expertise
across the public and voluntary sector, be more coordinated in the services
provided, and avoid waste or duplication of effort.
The Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 - 2021
8. The Children and Families Partnership Plan is a strategic document which sets
out the shared vision for children, young people and their families and the priority
outcomes that need to be improved. The Plan is not intended to be a detailed
description of the individual work of each partner, but rather a summary of key
areas of work that are best delivered together in order to have the biggest impact
on the lives of children and young people.
9. The Partnership have adopted the five supporting outcomes of the Joint Health
and Wellbeing Strategy relating to children and young people as the priority areas
for the Plan:


Ensure the best start in life– by developing an integrated early years pathway
which ensures needs are assessed to enable appropriate interventions are
offered and the development of a communication strategy to promote the
1001 critical days;



Keep children safe and free from harm – by developing and embedding an
integrated model of services to prevent harm to children and young people
and make children safe by raising awareness of universal safety messages;



Support children and families to be resilient - by developing an integrated
approach to family resilience and self-sufficiency, provide joined up
information and guidance to enable families to be self-sufficient and navigate
services and support families to progress towards work;



Ensure venerable families receive personalised, integrated care and support –
by providing integrated, outcome-based, high quality, cost-effective provision
and developing a post-16 multi-agency delivery model;



Enable children to have good physical and mental health - by developing a
whole system approach based on ‘Making obesity everyone’s business’ and
developing a partnership approach to emotional and mental wellbeing.

10. The Partnership has identified three key enablers to the successful delivery of the
Plan;
 co-production with children and young people
 integrated commissioning
 outcomes based delivery plans

13

11. The Partnership has also identified two cross cutting actions to underpin the Plan;
 cross-partnership communications plan
 cross-partnership workforce development
12. A priority lead has been identified for each priority and has been tasked with
working with partners and other key stakeholders to identify key areas for action
and suitable actions to deliver against each outcome.
13. The Partnership will adopt an outcomes based approach to delivery, planning
and assessing performance and impact, leading to a focus on the outcomes
which services are intending to achieve. The Partnership has listened to the voice
of children and young people during the development of the Plan and taken into
consideration the key themes for Leicestershire emerging from the Make Your
Mark 2017 national youth ballot and through on-going engagement activities,
details of which can be found in Appendix B.
14. It is proposed to share a “priorities on a page” poster internally across partner
organisations before an official launch of the plan in September 2018.
15. The Partnership will provide a progress report to the Health and Wellbeing Board
every six months.
Resource Implications
16. Resources are in place through the Children and Families Service until October
2019 to fund a post to support the Children and Families Partnership. The ongoing sustainability of this approach will need to be considered moving forward.
Timetable for Decisions
17. Subject to approval of the Plan by the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Plan will
be presented to the County Council’s Children and Families Overview and
Scrutiny Committee on the 4th June before being presented to its Cabinet for
approval on the 12 June. Subject to approval, the Plan will then be presented to
partner governance structures as necessary. It is intended that a launch event of
the plan will take place in September 2018.
Background papers
18. Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 7 July 2016, Terms of Reference
for the Supporting Leicestershire Families Executive
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s120533/SLF%20Executive%20ToR.pdf
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
19. None.
Officers to contact:
Paul Meredith
Director of Children and Family Services
Tel: 01163057441
Email: paul.meredith@leics.gov.uk

14

Liz Perfect
Head of Service - Commissioning & Planning
Tel: 0116 3054814
Email: liz.perfect@leics.gov.uk
Mala Razak
Children and Families Partnership Manager
Tel: 0116 305 8055
Email: mala.razak@leics.gov.uk

List of Appendices
Appendix A – Draft Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 20182021
Appendix B – Consultation with Children and Young People on Leicestershire’s
Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018-21: Summary Report
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
20. The Partnership has an interest in ensuring that there are effective arrangements
in place so that the services provided meet the identified needs of local people.
An EHIRA is being carried out in relation to the impacts of the Plan.

15

Leicestershire Children and
Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

16

What young people want from us

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

Contents
Introduction4
Setting the scene

Councillor Ivan Ould
Partnership Chair

5

Developing the Children and
Families Partnership Plan

6

Voice of Children and Young People

7

Priority 1: Ensure the best start in life9

Priority 3: S
 upport families to be
self-sufficient and resilient 11
Priority 4: E
 nsure vulnerable families receive
personalised, integrated care and support12
Priority 5: E
 nable children to have good physical
and mental health13
Priorities on a page

14

Contact details 

16

17

Priority 2: Safe and free from harm10

Our Children and Families Partnership is a vital
development, bringing together agencies involved with
children and young people to create a plan that sets out what we
want to achieve together to address the needs of all children and
young people, their families and carers.
A partnership approach where the child and family is at the
forefront of all thinking and action, duplication is removed,
and seamless service delivery is achieved is our ultimate goal.
If we all work together on shared priorities we believe
that we can make the difference that is needed.
We are united in a determination succeed, and
I consider myself privileged to be the Chair.

3

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

Introduction
This document provides an overview of Leicestershire’s Children and Families Partnership Plan and is not
intended to provide full details about how these will be implemented. The Partnership will develop detailed
delivery plans for each of its five outcomes, reflecting priority areas for action the Partnership determine are
likely to lead to the greatest impact.
Why we need a Partnership Plan

The purpose of the Partnership is to champion effective partnership working on
shared outcomes and priorities that make a real difference to the lives of children and
young people. By working together the Partnership can also maximise resources and
expertise, be more co-ordinated in the services provided and avoid duplication of effort.
The Partnership will oversee the five outcomes identified in the Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy relating to children and young people are delivered. The Children
and Families Partnership Plan will be the delivery mechanism for enabling a wider
partnership focus for these outcomes.
Outcome leads have been identified for each outcome to work with partners to identify
key priorities and action plans to deliver against each outcome. The outcome leads will
provide quarterly reports to the Partnership Board. The Partnership Chair will provide a
progress report to the Health and Wellbeing Board every six months.

Health and
Wellbeing board

18

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership is a sub-group of Leicestershire’s
Health and Wellbeing Board and is made up of the key organisations that work with
children, young people and their families across Leicestershire. The Partnership
includes representatives from Leicestershire County Council, Leicestershire Police,
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, NHS health partners, District and
Borough Councils, Schools, Probation Service, Department of Work and Pensions and
the voluntary sector.

Children and
Families Partnership
board

Partnership Plan
Outcome
Sub-groups

4

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

Setting the scene
Leicestershire is home to 65,262 children and young people aged 0 – 19.
The illustrations show some key data about Leicestershire’s children and young people.

70.1%
EHCP

3,350

children with an EHCP/statement (2017)

97.8%

of 16 – 17 year olds
were in education,
employment or training
in 2017

29.8%

566

Looked After children
(April 2018)

405

children on a child protection
plan (April 2018)

19

of children achieved a good level
of development in early years
foundation stage profile (2017)

of children in
Year 6 were
overweight or
obese (2017)

1 nursery school
223 primary schools
48 secondary schools
6 LA maintained
special schools
1 pupil referral unit
15 independent schools

5

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

Developing the Children and Families Partnership Plan

Understanding the needs of local
children, young people and families
Consultation, engagement and local data
from needs assessments

Co-production with children and young people
Outcomes based delivery plans
Integrated commissioning

Monitoring
Robust processes for reporting how
outcomes for children and young
people are improving

Two cross cutting actions
Cross-partnership communications plan
Cross-partnership workforce development

Children and young people in Leicestershire
are safe and living in families where they can
achieve their full potential

Priorities

20

Three enablers

Shared Vision

Identifying five outcomes
and shared priority areas
for action

Delivery
SMART delivery plans with
clear success measures

6

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

Voice of Children and Young People
Help kids know there is
someone to talk to

Knowing where
to go for help
The Partnership believes that children and young people should
be included in the decisions that affect their lives and, as such,
have identified co-production with children and young people as a
key enabler to the successful delivery of the Children and Families
Partnership Plan.

Build our self-esteem

Trusted people for
us to talk to
21

The Partnership has actively sought feedback from children and
young people across Leicestershire on the five outcomes to ensure
their views are incorporated into the development of the Children
and Families Partnership Plan.

Make us feel like
everyone else

Consultation activity included reviewing existing feedback from
children and young people emerging for Leicestershire through
the Make Your Mark 2017 National Youth Ballot and carrying out
additional direct engagement with targeted cohorts through focus
groups and community events.
We will continue to engage with children, young people and
families to ask how well we are doing, whether we are still doing
the right things and to find out whether the impacts of our actions
are being felt where it most matters.

7

22

Helping young people feel safe

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

Priority 1
Ensure the best start in life

What we want to achieve
• To improve early identification of children’s needs
• To promote a shared understanding of 1001 Critical Days

23

• To embed a partnership approach to ‘school readiness’

What we will do
• Develop an integrated Early Years pathway that ensures needs are
assessed and appropriate, proportionate interventions are offered
• Develop an integrated communication strategy to promote the 1001
Critical Days Children’s Manifesto.
• Develop a shared definition of school readiness and the support
required for children and families in order for them to be school
ready

9

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

Priority 2
Safe and free from harm

What we want to achieve
• To embed an integrated approach to risk of harm and child
exploitation
• To establish an integrated approach to the promotion of
universal safety messages

24

What we will do
• Develop a Multi- Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) to
support the application of thresholds and accessibility to
shared information, leading to joint responses to risk including
CSE, DA, gangs, missing from home
• Develop a communications strategy that supports partners to
deliver universal safety messages (real and virtual world) to
children and young people

10

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

Priority 3
Support families to be
self-sufficient and resilient
What we want to achieve
• To develop an integrated approach to family resilience and
self-sufficiency

25

• Provide joined up information and guidance to enable
families to be self-sufficient and navigate services
• To support families to progress towards work

What we will do
• Provide joined up information and guidance to enable
children, young people and families to be self-sufficient
and navigate services
• Engage with businesses locally to build resilience and offer
opportunities
• Raise profile and awareness of DWP work coaches to help
overcome barriers to work
• Encourage people to become part of their communities

11

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

Priority 4
Ensure vulnerable families receive
personalised, integrated care and support
What we want to achieve
• To provide integrated, outcome-based, high quality,
cost-effective provision
• To establish a multi-agency post 16 team

26

What we will do
• Explore opportunities for integrated commissioning of direct
payments, short breaks, play and leisure.
• Develop an Inclusion Strategy to ensure a partnership approach
in meeting the needs of vulnerable CYP in inclusive settings.
• Develop a wraparound therapeutic services model to support
step-downs from residential care
• Review integrated Pathways to Adulthood and Independent
Living for Children in Need and Looked After Children

12

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

Priority 5
Enable children to have good
physical and mental health
What we want to achieve
• To develop a whole system approach to obesity based on
“Making obesity everyone’s business”

27

• To develop a partnership approach to emotional and mental
wellbeing based on the “Adverse Childhood Experience”
evidence-base

What we will do
• Develop a maternal healthy weight action plan
• Develop a Schools Active Travel Action Plan
• Develop a shared understanding and approach using the
Adverse Childhood Experience evidence-base

13

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Priorities 2018-2021
Our shared vision
Children & young people in Leicestershire are safe and living in families
where they can achieve their full potential.

ENABLERS
| VOICE OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE | OUTCOME-BASED PLANNING | INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING |

2.
Keep children safe
and free from harm

3.
Support children and
families to be resilient

• To develop an
integrated Early Years
Pathway to ensure the
needs of vulnerable
children are identified

• To develop and embed
an integrated model of
services to prevent harm
to children and young
people

• To develop an integrated
approach to family resilience
and self-sufficiency

• To develop a shared
understanding of the
importance of the First
1001 Critical Days and
school readiness

• To make children safe
by raising awareness
of universal safety
messages

• Provide joined up
information and guidance
to enable families to be
self-sufficient and navigate
services

4.
Ensure vulnerable families
receive personalised,
integrated care and support

5.
Enable children to
have good physical and
mental health

• To provide integrated,
outcome-based, high
quality, cost-effective
provision

• To develop a whole
system approach based
on ‘Making obesity
everyone’s business’

• To develop a post-16
multi-agency delivery
model

• To develop a
partnership approach to
emotional and mental
wellbeing

28

1.
Ensure the
best start in life

• To support families to
progress towards work

2 CROSS-CUTTING THEMES: COMMUNICATIONS STRATEGY, WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT
14

29

Bringing resilience to young people’s lives

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Priorities 2018-2021
Our shared vision
Children & young people in Leicestershire are safe and living in families
where they can achieve their full potential.
Contact details

ENABLERS
| VOICE
OFcontact
CHILDREN
For further
information
xxxxxxxx: AND YOUNG PEOPLE | OUTCOME-BASED PLANNING | INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING |
Email: xxxxxxxxxxxxxx
The accompanying action plan can be found at
www.xxxxxxxxxxxxx

2.
Keep children safe
and free from harm

3.
Support children and
families to be resilient

• To develop an
integrated Early Years
Pathway to ensure the
needs of vulnerable
children are identified

• To develop and embed
an integrated model of
services to prevent harm
to children and young
people

• To develop an integrated
approach to family resilience
and self-sufficiency

• To develop a shared
understanding of the
importance of the First
1001 Critical Days and
school readiness

• To make children safe
by raising awareness
of universal safety
messages

• Provide joined up
information and guidance
to enable families to be
self-sufficient and navigate
services

4.
Ensure vulnerable families
receive personalised,
integrated care and support

5.
Enable children to
have good physical and
mental health

• To provide integrated,
outcome-based, high
quality, cost-effective
provision

• To develop a whole
system approach based
on ‘Making obesity
everyone’s business’

• To develop a post-16
multi-agency delivery
model

• To develop a
partnership approach to
emotional and mental
wellbeing

30

1.
Ensure the
best start in life

• To support families to
progress towards work

S0110. 04/18.

R0700

2 CROSS-CUTTING THEMES: COMMUNICATIONS STRATEGY, WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT

31
APPENDIX B:
Consultation with Children and Young People on Leicestershire’s Children and Families Partnership Plan
2018-21: Summary Report
1 Background
Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership is currently developing a strategic Children and Families
Partnership Plan for 2018-21 which focusses on five priority outcome areas identified through the joint
health and wellbeing strategy.
The Partnership believes that children and young people should be included in the decisions that affect
their lives and, as such, have identified co-production with children and young people as a key enabler to
the successful delivery of the Children and Families Plan.
The Partnership has actively sought feedback from children and young people across Leicestershire on the
five priority outcomes to ensure their views are incorporated into the development of the Children and
Families Partnership Plan.
This report presents the findings of the consultation for the attention of the Partnership.
2 Approach
The purpose of the consultation was to explore children and young people’s views on the five priority
outcome areas of the draft Children and Families Partnership Plan:
1. Ensure the best start in life
2. Keep children safe and free from harm
3. Support children and families to be resilient
4. Ensure vulnerable families receive personalised, integrated care and support
5. Enable children to have good physical and mental health
The consultation has included reviewing existing feedback from children and young people and carrying
out additional direct consultation with targeted cohorts through focus groups and community events held
from January to March 2018.
The focus group sessions were designed to be participative, encourage discussion and capture the views of
children and young people. Sessions lasted for approximately one hour and were facilitated by the Children
and Families Partnership Manager along with VOICE staff to ensure there were familiar people present to
support the children and young people.
Further face to face consultation was carried out with children, young people and their parents/carers at
three VOICE “marketplace” events.
3 Findings
Youth Ballot 2017
15,887 young people in Leicestershire, aged 11 – 18, took part in the ‘Make Your Mark’ 2017 Youth Ballot,
organised by the UK Youth Parliament to identify the issues they should campaign on in the following year.
The top 3 issues that young people in Leicestershire voted for are:

32




A curriculum to prepare us for life: Schools should cover topics like finance, sex and relationship
education and politics (2,206 votes)
Mental health: Services should be improved with young people’s help (2,054 votes)
Transport: Make public transport cheaper, better and accessible for all (1,997)

Youth VOICE
55 children and young people participated in the focus groups. Each group consisted of a mix of male and
female participants.
Over 200 children and young people attended the VOICE events that where consultation was undertaken
as part of a “marketplace” session. In some instances, parents/carers provided and scribed the feedback on
behalf of younger children.
Focus group session

Age group

No. of participants

Junior Children in Care Council

7 - 13

13

Senior Children in Care Councils

14 – 18

9

OPCC Youth Volunteers & YOS Youth Advisors

14 - 24

12

YOS

8 - 18

5

CYCLe

13 - 20

12

Hinckley and Bosworth District youth forum

13 - 17

4

Community event
SEND VOICE pop-up (Twycross Zoo)

Numbers attending event
92

Children in Care Celebration

200

NW Leicestershire VOICE pop-up (Conkers)

29

Children and young people were asked the following two questions in relation to the five priority
outcomes. The language of the outcomes and the questions was adjusted as appropriate to meet the
needs of the children and young people in each session.
•
How can services help you to achieve the outcome?
•
What is important to you?
4 Emerging themes
The collated feedback is visualised below, with the most consistent themes appearing in a larger font. Key
messages that appeared across the five outcomes included:
•
Support from someone they trust
•
Someone to talk to and to listen to them
•
Access to sports and physical activity
•
Online safety
•
Education and information

33
Ensure the best start in life

Keep children safe and free from harm

34

Support children and families to be resilient

Ensure vulnerable families receive personalised, integrated care and support

35
Enable children to have good physical and mental health

5 Conclusion and recommendations
The consultation explored the key issues and types of support that children and young people feel they
would like services to support them with. It should be noted that the total numbers of children and young
people involved in the consultation was relatively small and the focus group sessions were not in-depth,
however, the findings do illustrate the views of children and young people within target cohorts and offers
useful evidence to inform the development of the Children and Families Partnership Plan.

This page is intentionally left blank

37

Agenda Item 6

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 24 MAY 2018
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES
DRAFT LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND LIVING WELL
WITH DEMENTIA STRATEGY 2019–2022
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an
update concerning the development of the Draft Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland Living Well with Dementia Strategy 2019 -2022 and to seek the Board’s
views on the Strategy as part of the consultation arrangements.

Link to the local Health and Care System
2.

The Draft Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Living Well with Dementia Strategy
2019 – 2022 is a joint Strategy with all local authorities and Clinical Commissioning
Groups (CCGs) across LLR and sets out the draft strategic priorities relating to
dementia. The Dementia Strategy is governed by the kDementia Programme Board,
a sub group of the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP). The actions
identified within the Strategy cut across a number of Integration and Health and
Wellbeing work streams, including the Unified Prevention Offer, Home First and
Integrated Domiciliary Care.

Recommendation
3.

The Board is invited to comment on the draft Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
(LLR) Living Well with Dementia Strategy 2019–2022.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4.

The relevant policy framework includes:










The Care Act 2014;
The Equality Act 2010;
Prime Minister’s Challenge on Dementia 2020;
Better Care Together Five Year Strategic Plan 2014-2019;
Leicestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2017-2022;
Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Plan for 2018-22 – Working Together
for Everyone;
The Leicestershire Adult Social Care Strategy 2016-2020;
CCGs Operational Plans;
University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) Dementia Strategy 2016-2019.

38
Background
The Law relating to Dementia Support
5.

The Care Act 2014 introduced new responsibilities for local authorities from April
2015. This requires local authorities and health partners to work together to integrate
services where possible, in order to provide seamless support, avoid duplication and
achieve best value for money.

The Prime Minister’s Challenge on Dementia 2020
6.

In February 2015, the Department of Health published the above document detailing
why dementia remains a priority and outlining the challenges faced by the UK. The
key priorities identified were threefold; to improve health and care, to promote
awareness and understanding, and to invest in research.

The LLR Dementia Strategy
7.

The Dementia Programme Board, with membership across partnership organisations
including CCGs, local authorities, UHL, voluntary organisations, the police and De
Montfort University, has drafted the Dementia Strategy and the high level delivery
plan. The multi-agency partnership works to ensure that interdependencies are
identified.

8.

Funding is not addressed directly within the Strategy. However, available resources
will be reflected in individual organisational plans that will be developed by partners
setting out their role in the delivery of the Strategy.

Local Strategic Responses
9.

The Better Care Together (BCT) Five Year Strategic Plan establishes the future
shape of health and social care services across LLR. The Plan addresses demand
issues in the system as the population is ageing and living longer with more complex
long term needs.

10. The BCT Plan sets out the actions that need to be taken across the health and care
system in LLR over the next five years in order to improve health outcomes and
ensure services are safe, of a high quality and within the financial resources
available. The Strategy builds on the vision of the existing BCT programme to
“Support you through every stage of life, helping children and parents so they have
the very best start in life, helping you stay well in mind and body, and caring for the
most vulnerable and frail and when life comes to an end.”
Dementia Support in Leicestershire
11. The estimated number of people with dementia in Leicestershire is 9,642 of which
9,548 (99%) are over the age of 65. The total population aged 65 and over in
Leicestershire is some 139,400, so 6.8% of this cohort is living with dementia.
12. The dementia diagnosis indicator compares the number of people thought to have
dementia with the number of people diagnosed with dementia. The target set by

39
NHS England is that two thirds (67%) of people with dementia are diagnosed.
13. All CCG areas are meeting the 67% national target in relation to diagnosis rates and
appropriate referrals are being made to memory assessment clinics, underpinned by
a shared care agreement. As at November 2017, the overall diagnosis rate across
LLR was 74%, with a relatively higher performance of 87% in Leicester City, 73% in
West Leicestershire and 67% in East Leicestershire and Rutland.
14. General Practitioners (GPs) have been supported to understand and promote key
preventative messages, as well as developing health checks and a dementia friendly
GP toolkit.
15. The memory pathway is well embedded across the area with good connections
between primary care, memory clinics, post diagnostic support services, and social
care.
16. The total demand-led Council spend for 2017/18 to support people in Leicestershire
whose primary need relates to memory and cognition is £6.77m and this provides for
residential, domiciliary and other services commissioned to support such individuals.
This includes brain injury and developmental disabilities but the majority will be spent
upon people with a diagnosis of dementia. Other services will also be provided to
people with dementia so this does not therefore represent dementia support costs in
their totality.
17. The jointly commissioned Dementia Support Service (health and social care across
Leicester and Leicestershire) began in October 2017, offering a single point of
access for people with dementia, carers and professionals. Total joint funding by the
partners for this service is £495,000 per annum, of which the County Council’s
contribution is £281,000 from the Better Care Fund (approved by the Cabinet on 10
March 2017).
18. In addition to the Dementia Support Service, there is a range of support across
Leicester and Leicestershire for people with dementia and carers. This includes
advice, information, training and carer respite. Advocacy and safeguarding services
are in place, assistive technology solutions are widely offered, and a variety of social
opportunities such as activity groups, memory cafes and befriending are available to
support people and carers to live well with dementia.
19. Contract monitoring is led by Leicester City Council (the lead commissioner and
contract holder), involving and reporting to the contributing organisations’
commissioners in order to ensure equitable provision across Leicester and
Leicestershire, and to ensure people with dementia across all these areas are cared
for and supported well.
20. Provision in Rutland is aligned to the Leicester and Leicestershire service, but
operates separately to facilitate links with Peterborough hospitals used by many
Rutland residents.
21. NHS and social care organisations offer staff training programmes, and strong links
have been made with the local Dementia Action Alliance social movement to recruit
dementia friends and work towards creating more dementia friendly communities.

40
Engagement
22. Engagement with people living with dementia and their carers has been undertaken
across the area to understand their experiences of the health and social care system
to inform future work.
23. Visits to dementia cafes, carers groups and activity groups in 2017 identified support
for strengthening locality based approaches, working closely with both primary and
secondary care services, and the importance of post diagnostic support.
24. Other issues which emerged during initial engagement with stakeholders were the
importance of good links between the provider and primary care services, to ensure
appropriate referral pathways are understood and used, the need for good, timely,
accessible information, and the value placed upon peer support found in groups and
dementia cafes.
The draft LLR Living Well with Dementia Strategy
25. The development of the draft Strategy has been overseen by the LLR Dementia
Programme Board. It has been guided by principles developed by NHS England in
its transformation framework, the “Well Pathway for Dementia”, based on the
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence guidelines, the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development Framework for Dementia, and the
Dementia “I” statements from the National Dementia Declaration.
26. The “Well Pathway for Dementia” has five key aims:






Preventing well: the risk of people developing dementia is minimised;
Diagnosing well: timely, accurate diagnosis, care plan, and review within the first
year;
Supporting well: access to safe, high quality health and social care for people with
dementia and carers;
Living well: people with dementia can live normally in safe and accepting
communities;
Dying well: people living with dementia die with dignity in the place of their
choosing.

The draft LLR Strategy Delivery Plan
27. The Strategy Delivery Plan identifies key activity under each of the five “Well”
headings, with the responsible lead agency (pages 11-13).
28. Each member of the LLR Dementia Programme Board will reflect these delivery
actions in their own organisational plans and the needs of under-represented groups
will be considered in all of the actions listed.
29. With regard to ‘Preventing Well’, work is ongoing to develop dementia friendly GP
practices and the promotion of health checks in Primary Care.
30. Promoting the memory pathway, developing a process to increase the number of
people being diagnosed within six weeks of referral and working with care homes to
pilot the dementia diagnosis toolkit are all key aspects of the ‘Diagnosing Well’

41
theme.
31. Within ‘Supporting Well’, raising awareness of dementia amongst housing providers,
together with focusing on improving in-patient experience and discharge are two of a
number of important initiatives.
32. Supporting work to improve care for people with complex dementia in care homes
and reviewing care and support standards across LLR together with a number of
other strands of work form the ‘Living Well’ with dementia theme.
33. Finally, with regard to ‘Dying Well’, stronger links have been formed with the STP
End of Life work stream to highlight the needs of those with dementia.
34

There are a number of action points that require integrated and joint working and
relate to current work streams and sub groups, eg Home First and Help to Live at
Home. These require a joint implementation plan.

35

The delivery plan will be refreshed on an annual basis to ensure its relevance.

36. The draft Strategy has taken account of the key actions required in respect of the
BCT Plan and the Prime Minister’s Challenge feedback from individual organisations
governance meetings and people affected by dementia prior to the public
consultation commencing.
Consultation
37. Formal consultation would assure the partnership that the draft Strategy fairly reflects
the priorities from all stakeholder perspectives and supports the development of a
more detailed implementation plan for Leicestershire.
38. Following approval from all partners, the consultation commenced on the 19 April
2018 and runs until the 22 June 2018 and is being led and hosted by Leicester City
Council.
39. The consultation will seek the views of the general public, carers, service users,
stakeholders and partners through an online questionnaire and targeted consultation
with carers, particularly those currently accessing support.
40. The consultation is available directly from the Leicester City Website and also via a
link on the Leicestershire County Council “Have your say” page https://consultations.leicester.gov.uk/communications/living-well-with-dementia-strategy-consultation/

41. A joint LLR communications plan has been established which will raise public
awareness of the consultation and also encourages feedback from current users of
services their families and carers via the commissioned providers, the voluntary
sector and statutory services. In addition, all Dementia Programme Board members
are responsible for alerting their organisations about the consultation and request it is
communicated widely.
42. Outcomes of the consultation will determine the final version of the Dementia
Strategy for the next three years; establish future implementation plans across the

42
partnership and specific actions for Leicestershire and
support and guide future commissioning decisions.

inform the approach to

Resource Implications
43. There are no resource implications arising directly from this report. However, the
Strategy, along with the stakeholder and consultation feedback received, will be used
to shape future commissioning decisions for Dementia services.
Timetable for Decisions
44. The draft Strategy has been presented to respective CCG and local authority
governance boards.
45. The consultation outcomes, the final Dementia Strategy and a specific
implementation plan for Leicestershire will be reported to its Cabinet in autumn 2018.
Each CCG, Rutland and Leicester City Councils will also take the Strategy to their
governance boards with their specific implementation plans with the final Strategy
commencing at the beginning of 2019.
Background papers
Report to the Cabinet – 5 February 2016 - Adult Social Care Strategy 2016-2020
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4599&Ver=4
Report to the Cabinet – 10 March 2017 – Better Care Fund Plan 2017/18 – 2018/19
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4859&Ver=4
Report to the Cabinet – 9 March 2018 – Draft LLR Living Well with Dementia Strategy
2019-2022
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5178&Ver=4
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
46. A Members’ News in Brief was issued to all Leicestershire County Council
Councillors on the 19 April 2018, advising of the commencement of the consultation.
Officers to Contact
Jon Wilson, Director of Adults and Communities
Adults and Communities Department
Telephone: 0116 305 7454
Email: jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk
Sandy McMillan, Assistant Director (Strategy and Commissioning)
Adults and Communities Department
Telephone: 0116 305 7320
Email: sandy.mcmillan@leics.gov.uk

43
List of Appendices


Appendix A – Draft Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Living Well with Dementia
Strategy 2019–2022

Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
47. A joint Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment screening, including
improvement actions to address equalities issues already identified, has been
undertaken.
Partnership Working and associated issues
48. A number of action points identified in the draft Strategy have implications for
partnership working. Whilst each individual organisation is developing their own
internal implementation plan these cannot be delivered in isolation or without
reference to work already underway in STP or BCT work streams. These particular
action points are listed below:









Increase Public Health involvement in the work of the Dementia Programme
Board;
Work with care homes to pilot and roll out the dementia diagnosis toolkit;
Contribute to a review of the workforce development offer to ensure a focus on
high levels of expertise when delivering personal care;
Continue to focus on improving the in-patient experience and hospital discharge
pathways;
Support the work to improve residential provision for people with complex
dementia;
Review the current care and support standards used across LLR and agree a
common set;
Work with care homes and other providers to develop training and support to
manage crises and work with reablement principles;
Make stronger links with STP End of Life work-stream.

This page is intentionally left blank

45

Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland’s
Living Well with Dementia Strategy
2019-2022

1. Introduction
Supporting and helping those living with dementia and their carers remains a priority for Leicester, Leicester shire
and Rutland’s (LLR) health and social care organisations.
Our Strategy sets out the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland ambition to support people to live well with
dementia. It reflects the national strategic direction outlined in The Prime Minister’s Challenge on Dementia which
details ambitious reforms to be achieved by 2020. The Strategy is informed by what people have told us about their
experiences either as a person living with dementia or as a carer and is written for those people; specifically those
with memory concerns, those with a dementia diagnosis, their families and carers and the organisations supporting
them.
Leicester, Leicester and Rutland’s Living Well with Dementia Strategy 2019-2022 has been developed in partnership
between local health, social care and voluntary sector organisations.

As a partnership, we are committed to minimising the impact of dementia whilst transforming dementia care and
support within the communities of Leicester City, Leicestershire and Rutland, not only for the person with dementia
but also for the individuals who care for someone with dementia.
We want the well-being and quality of life for every person with dementia to be uppermost in the minds of our
health and social care professionals.
https://www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/wp-content/uploads/sites/29/2016/03/dementia-well-pathway.pdf

46

An important focus of our strategy is to move towards delivery of personalised and integrated care. We have used
the NHS England Well Pathway for Dementia to give us a framework that puts the individual and their carer at the
centre of service development and implementation across health and social care.

2. What is dementia?
‘ Dementia describes a set of symptoms that include loss of concentration and
memory problems, mood and behaviour changes and problems with
communicating and reasoning. These symptoms occur when the brain is
damaged by certain diseases, such as Alzheimer’s disease, a series of small
strokes or other neurological conditions such as Parkinson’s disease’
‘Prime Minister’s Challenge on Dementia 2020’

People of any age can receive a dementia diagnosis but it is more common in
those over the age of 65. Early onset dementia refers to younger people with
dementia whose symptoms commence before the age of 65. Younger people with
dementia often face different issues to those experienced by older people.
No two people with dementia are the same and therefore the symptoms each
person experiences will also differ.

Further information about the different types of dementia can be found at:
http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/dementia-guide/Pages/dementia-choices.aspx or
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/info/20007/types_of_dementia?_ga=2.40475106.1171939401.1502101092553907988.1496762237

47

All types of dementia are progressive. The way that people experience dementia
will depend on a variety of factors therefore the progression of the condition will
be different.

3. Vision, Guiding Principles and Aim
This strategy has been guided by principles developed by NHS England in their transformation
framework; this ‘Well Pathway for Dementia’ is based on NICE guidelines, the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development framework for Dementia and the Dementia Istatements from The National Dementia Declaration.

Our vision is that Leicestershire, Leicester and Rutland are all places where people
can live well with dementia through the following guiding principles:

Diagnosing
Well

Supporting
Well

Living
Well

Dying
Well

We aim to create a health and social care system that works together
so that every person with dementia, their carers and families have
access to and receive compassionate care and support not only prior
to diagnosis but post-diagnosis and through to end of life.

48

Preventing
Well

4. National Context and Background
There are a number of national drivers that shape and influence the
way the UK should tackle dementia as a condition.

Legislation
Care Act 2014
Equality Act 2010

The priorities identified within this are:
1) To improve health and care
2) To promote awareness and understanding
3) Research

49

Prime Ministers Challenge on Dementia 2020
In February 2015, the Department of Health
published a document detailing why dementia
remains a priority and outlining the challenges the
UK continues to face in relation to dementia.

Context
Living Well with Dementia
2009
Dementia 2015
NHS & Adult Social Care
Outcomes Frameworks
Fix Dementia Care 2016

National Picture
There are currently
850,000 people living
with dementia in the
UK. 42,325 of these
have early onset
dementia. The number
of people with
dementia is forecast
to increase to
1,142.677 by 2025 – an
increase of 40%.

1 in 3 people who die over
the age of 65 years have
dementia. Dementia now
accounts for 11.6% of all
recorded deaths in the UK

It is estimated that
there are 11,392 people
from black and minority
ethnic (BME)
communities who have
dementia in the UK.
6.1% of all those are
early onset, compared
with only 2.2% for the
UK population as a
whole, reflecting the
younger age profile of
BME communities.

Gender
Male
39%
61%

Female

Ethnicity

93.9%

6.1%

50

1 in every 14 of the
population over 65 years
has dementia

It is estimated that 1 in 3
people in the UK will care
for someone with
dementia in their lifetime

In the UK 61% of people
with dementia are
female and 39% are
male. There are a
higher proportion of
women with dementia
as women tend to live
longer, however, this
does reverse when
considering the data for
people with early-onset
dementia.

5. Local Context and Background
Better Care Together (BCT) is the programme of work that plans to transform the
health and social care system. The Sustainability and Transformation Partnership
(STP) in LLR derived from this programme and is developing proposals across a
variety of health and social care areas, to enable us to plan and be responsive to the
needs of the whole population. The dementia work stream has established a
programme board with membership across partnership organisations and linked to
the wider STP programme.

De Montfort
University

West
Leicestershire
CCG
East
Leicestershire
and Rutland
CCG

Leicestershire
Police

Leicester City
Council

Funding in relation to
dementia is not directly
addressed within this
strategy however, the
financial position cannot
be ignored therefore the
available resources for
each organisation will be
reflected in individual
organisational plans that
will be developed by
partners setting out their
role in the delivery of the
strategy.

Leicester
City CCG

Age UK
Leicestershire
& Rutland
The
Alzheimer’s
Society

Dementia
Programme
Board

University
Hospitals of
Leicester

Leicestershire
County
Council

Rutland
County
Council
Leicestershire
Partnership
Trust

Healthwatch

Leicestershire County Council
Adult Social Care Strategy
2016-2020
Leicester City Council – Adult
Social Care: Strategic
Commissioning Strategy
2015-2019

Rutland County Council – The
Future of Adult Social Care in
Rutland
2015 – 2020
Clinical Commissioning
Group Operational Plans
2016-2017
University Hospitals of
Leicester NHS Trust Dementia
Strategy 2016-2019

51

The Dementia Programme
Board has written this
strategy and high level
delivery plan. The multi
agency partnership works
to ensure that
interdependencies are
identified.

The key local policy
documents that influence the
delivery of the Strategy

Local Picture
The dementia diagnosis indicator compares the number of people thought to have dementia with the
number of people diagnosed with dementia. The target set by NHS England is for at least two thirds of
people with dementia to be diagnosed, 67%. The national prevalence of dementia is 1.3% of the entire UK
population equating to approximately 850,000 individuals.

Local NHS Diagnosis Rates
West Leicestershire
73%

Leicester City
87%

East Leicestershire & Rutland
67%
November 2017

Leicester

• 3026 individuals living with dementia
• 2951 of these are 65 years or over
• The total population of people aged 65 years or over is 41,700 which
equates to 7.07% of this cohort of the population living with dementia

Rutland

• 704 individuals living with dementia
• 694 of these are 65 years or over
• The total population of people aged 65 years or over is 9,500 which
equates to 7.3% of this cohort of the population living with dementia

52

Leicestershire

• 9642 individuals living with dementia
• 9548 of these are 65 years or over
• The total population of people aged 65 years or over is 139,400 which
equates to 6.78% of this cohort of the population living with dementia

6. Achievements of the Previous LLR Strategy 2011 – 2014
GP’s have been supported to understand and promote key preventative messages as well as developing
health checks and a dementia friendly GP toolkit
Engagement with people living with dementia and their carers has been undertaken across the area to
understand their experiences of the health and social care system to inform future work
All CCG areas are meeting the 67% national target in relation to diagnosis rates and appropriate referrals
are being made to memory assessment clinics, underpinned by a shared care agreement.

A new community and hospital based Dementia Support Service has been commissioned across Leicester
and Leicestershire, with a single point of access for people with dementia, carers and professionals
Rutland has a fully integrated personalised approach to dementia support, including an Admiral nurse
who has specialist dementia nursing expertise
Contract monitoring was undertaken by all commissioners and aimed to ensure that people with
dementia were cared for and supported well.
Carers are supported through specific services, including advice, information, training and respite.

53

The memory pathway is well embedded across the area with good connections form primary care,
memory clinics, post diagnostic support services, social care.

6. Achievements of the Previous LLR Strategy 2011 – 2014
Voluntary and Community Sector organisations offer training programmes for people with dementia and
carers. NHS and social care organisations offer staff training programmes.
Advocacy services and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards services are in place to give people with
dementia a voice.
Assistive technology solutions are widely offered to people living with dementia and carers.

A variety of social opportunities such as activity groups, memory cafes, befriending is available to
support people and carers to live well with dementia
Advice and information is available throughout the memory pathway

54

Strong links have been made with the local Dementia Action Alliance social movement to recruit
dementia friends and work towards creating more dementia friendly communities.

7. LLR Dementia Strategy Delivery Plan 2019 - 2022
This delivery plan will be refreshed on an annual basis to ensure its relevance. Actions have been
agreed as a result of engagement with stakeholders and feedback from public consultation. Each
member of the LLR Dementia Programme Board will reflect these delivery actions in their own
organisational plans and the needs of under-represented groups will be considered in all of the
actions listed below.

Responsible

Guiding Principle

Actioned By

Pilot the Dementia Friendly general
practice template and consider how to
rollout more widely

CCGs

Preventing Well

2019/2020

Promote health checks in primary care

CCGs

Preventing Well

2019/2020

Increase Public Health involvement in
the work of the DPB

LLR Dementia Programme Board

Preventing Well

2019

Review memory assessment pathway
and referral processes

CCGs & LPT

Diagnosing Well

2019/20

Promote memory pathway

LLR Dementia Programme Board

Diagnosing Well

2019/20

To develop a process to increase the
number of people receiving a dementia
diagnosis within 6 weeks of a GP referral

CCGs

Diagnosing Well

2020/21

55

Action

7. LLR Dementia Strategy Delivery Plan
Responsible

Guiding Principle

Actioned By

Work with Care Homes to pilot and
roll out the dementia diagnosis
toolkit

CCG & Local Authority
Commissioners

Diagnosing Well

2020/2021

Monitor the Dementia Support
Services contracts and take action
as appropriate

Local Authority Commissioners

Supporting Well

ongoing

Raise awareness of dementia with
housing providers

LLR Dementia Programme Board

Supporting Well

2020/2021

Contribute to a review of the workforce
development offer to ensure a focus on
high levels of expertise when delivering
personal care

Health and Social Care
professionals and workforce
development providers

Supporting Well

2019/2020

Continue to focus on improving the
in-patient experience and discharge
pathways

LLR Dementia Programme Board

Supporting Well

2019/2020

Promote Dementia Support
Services across LLR

Health & Social Care professionals
& providers

Living Well

2019/2020

56

Action

7. LLR Dementia Strategy Delivery Plan
Responsible

Guiding Principle

Actioned By

Support the work to improve
residential provision for people with
complex dementia

CCG & Local Authority Commissioners

Living Well

2019/2020

Support the Dementia Action Alliance
to develop more dementia friendly
communities

LLR Dementia Programme Board

Living Well

2019/2020

Develop routine engagement processes
with people living with dementia and
carers to inform our work

LLR Dementia Programme Board

Living Well

2019/2020

Review the dementia information offer to
ensure it covers a range of topics,
including accommodation options

LLR Dementia Programme Board

Living Well

2020/2021

Review the current care and support
standards used across LLR and agree
a common set

Health & Social Care professionals &
providers

Living Well

2020/2021

Work with care homes and other
providers to develop training and support
to manage crises and work with
reablement principles.

Health and Social Care professionals
and providers

Living Well

2020/2021

Make stronger links with STP End of
Life work-stream

LLR Dementia Programme Board

Dying Well

2019/2021

57

Action

This page is intentionally left blank

59

Agenda Item 7

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 24 May 2018
REPORT OF EAST LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND CLINICAL
COMMISSIONING GROUP
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PERSONALISED COMMISSIONING SERVICE
STANDARD OPERATING PROCEDURES
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Health and Wellbeing Board on the
implementation of the Personalised Commissioning Service across Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR).

Link to the local Health and Care System
2.

This report supports the following strategic aims of the CCG
 Transform Services and enhance quality of life for people with long-term
conditions;
 Improve integration of local services between health and social care;
 Improve the quality of care – clinical effectiveness, safety and patient
experience;
 Reduce inequalities in access to healthcare;
 Living within our means using public money effectively.

Recommendation
3.

The Board is asked to note the report

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4.

The relevant policies are the National Framework for NHS Continuing Healthcare and
NHS-funded Nursing Care 2012 (revised) and the National Framework for Children
and Young People’s Continuing Care (2016).

Background
5.

The LLR CCGs revised the specification for the Continuing Healthcare Service (CHC)
to broaden its remit. The new service covers both Children’s Continuing Care, Adults
Continuing Healthcare and also personal health budgets. The service was renamed
to the Personalised Commissioning Service to reflect the broader remit. The contract
was awarded to Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (MLCSU) and
went live on 1st April 2017. There was a considerable amount of work to be done to

60
transition the service prior to implementing the full End to End process. The End to
End process means that all full assessments for Continuing Healthcare will be coordinated and undertaken by staff from the Personalised Commissioning Service in
conjunction with other members of the Multidisciplinary team. Previously
assessments were undertaken by staff from both Leicestershire Partnership Trust,
University Hospitals of Leicestershire and the previous CHC provider.
Update on Progress
6. The CCG has worked with MLCSU to transition the service from the previous provider
with the main objective being to ensure that the National Framework for Continuing
Healthcare is applied correctly and that assessments are well evidenced. This required
significant recruitment into permanent posts, both clinical and administrative. MLCSU
have developed their Standard Operating Procedures for the following:




CHC assessment and review process
Fast Tracks into the CHC service
Joint Funding requests from the Local Authorities.

7. MLCSU have been providing training on the application of the CHC framework for Local
Authority and NHS staff and the feedback from staff attending the training has been
positive. The training has helped staff to clarify the purpose of the assessment, what
information is needed and how to identify the correct levels of assessed need. This work
is supporting the end to end process.
8. MLCSU implemented the end to end process with LPT referrals in August 2017 and are
in the final stages of implementing the process in UHL with a go live date of 1 st July
2018.
9. In order to develop stronger working relationships at all levels there are a number of
meetings with all partners. The Personalised Commissioning Operational Service Group
is managed by MLCSU and provides the opportunity to discuss and resolve operational
issues. The Personalised Commissioning Transformation Group is managed by the CCG
and as well as focusing on the future development of the service is also the escalation
route for issues that cannot be resolved in the Operational Service Group. Membership
of both groups includes the CCG, the three Local Authorities, Leicestershire Partnership
Trust,University Hospitals of Leicestershire, LOROS and MLCSU.
10. The Transformation Group has also worked with the three Local Authorities on the
revision of the NHS Continuing Healthcare Interagency Disputes Policy. This policy
describes the steps for NHS Bodies and Local Authorities to mediate in disputes about
NHS Continuing Healthcare and covers disputes about eligibility and also joint funding
requests. This policy is only for disputes between the agencies. There is a separate
route for individuals and their families to dispute the outcome of an assessment.
Future Developments
11. There are a number of areas of work for the future development of the service and
these include the following:
 Implementation of the National framework for NHS Continuing Healthcare and
NHS-funded Nursing Care October 2018 (Revised). The revised framework
was published in March 2018 with an implementation date of 1st October

61






2018. Although the revision does not change the eligibility criteria it is
intended to provide greater clarity to individuals and staff through a new
structure and style. The revision is also intended to reflect legislative changes
since the 2012 National Framework was published, primarily to reflect the
implementation of the Care Act 2014.
CCGs have been asked by NHS England to develop plans to make personal
health budgets the default delivery model for NHS Continuing Healthcare
funded home care by April 2019.There were 176 PHBs in East Leicestershire
and Rutland CCG and West Leicestershire CCG as at the end of quarter 4 of
2017-18 so there is a good basis to build on and MLCSU have already trained
their Nurse Commissioners, however there will still be a significant amount of
work to be done to ensure that this is the default offer.
Ensuring that the majority of NHS CHC assessments take place outside of
acute hospital settings. The requirement is that less than 15% of all
assessments take place in an acute setting.
Ensuring that more than 80% of decisions on eligibility are completed within
28 calendar days

Resource Implications
12. There are no additional resource implications as the resource to manage this service
is already in place.
Timetable for Decisions
13. Not applicable.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
14. None.
Officer to Contact
Paul Gibara, Chief Commissioning and Performance Officer
Telephone: 0116 295 6266
Email:
Paul.Gibara@EastleicestershireandRutlandccg.nhs,uk
Noelle Rolston. Head of Personalised Commissioning
Telephone: 0116 295 6767
Email:
Noelle.rolston@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
15.

Due regard to the positive general duties of the Equality Act 2010 has been
undertaken in the development of this report. The CCG aims to design and
implement services, policies and measures that meet the diverse needs of our
service, population and workforce, ensuring that none are placed at a disadvantage
over others.

62
16.

All policies and procedures are developed in line with the CCG Equality and Diversity
Policy and need to take into account the diverse needs of the community that is
served. The CCG will endeavour to make sure this policy supports its diverse
workforce and look after the information the organisation needs to conduct its
business. It will also endeavour to make sure that this information is protected on
behalf of patients regardless of race, social exclusion, gender, disability, age, sexual
orientation or religion/belief. Where it is identified that statements in this policy have
an adverse impact for particular equality groups this will be raised with the Senior
Information Risk Owner and within the Head of Corporate Governance and Legal
Affairs and solutions sought.

Partnership Working and associated issues
17.

The application of the Continuing Healthcare process requires all partners to work
together to ensure that the assessment is person-centred, equitable, culturally
sensitive, robust, transparent and lawful. There are times when this can be difficult to
achieve because of competing tensions between Health and Social Care. All partners
have acknowledged this and are working to develop a common understanding of the
process and will continue to do so using the forums of the Personalised
Commissioning Transformation Group and the Operational Service Group described
earlier in this document.

John Edwards

63

Agenda Item 8

Summary
•

•

•

64

•

LPT has embarked on a 5 year
Transformation programme to redesign its
entire mental health and learning
disabilities services. This is described in
5 key stages.
This is focused on: Increasing value to
service users (and reducing activities that
doesn’t add value), releasing clinical time
to care, creating increased flow through
services.
This will involve both radical changes
(requiring time and significant redesign)
and small scale changes that happens
concurrently to the radical redesign such
as improving inpatient flow in the
Bradgate unit.
The redesign is being undertaking
through co-design with service users,
carers, staff and stakeholders working
together to redesign services.

5 year Programme

65

The challenges…
Gaps in services
Disproportionate amount of
resource in inpatient
services than community

Patients bounced
around between
services

Long waiting times

One of the highest community
caseloads in country

66

Many NICE approved
treatments not provided or
provided with enormous
waits

Unequal services based
on location, age etc.

Location of services not
always convenient and
parking often hard
One of the longest length of stay in
adult mental health services

System configuration
Outcome

Creating
seamless

flow
67

Resource change

68

Eg.

Review caseloads in community teams
Improved flow
Improve inpatient bed flow (red to green)
Reduced length of stay
Reduced out of area placements

69

Fundamentals

Stage 1: Principles

70

Service users,
carers, staff and
stakeholders
views

Views themed
to form a set of
principles

Stage 2: High Level Pathway
Development – Co-design
• 4 x Week long Workshops

• 20+ staff, service users, carers and stakeholders in the
room each week

Access

Assessment

Treatment

Discharge

71

• Twice each week there were 7 Feed-in sessions and
online forms supported by VAL to get wider
involvement of service users, carers, staff, local
authority, VCS, other stakeholders and wider public.

NEXT… Stage 3: Detailed Pathway
Design (June to March 2019)

Data

Workforce model, clinical pathways and
organisational structure

72

Co-design
Workshops

73

Summary outputs from stage 1
and 2

Stage 1: Principles

Principles: Access - When people need help they get…
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

74

•

Timely access that is immediate when required and available 24 hours and 7
days a week
Simple and clear information that is understandable on where to go and what to
expect.
Easy and flexible access through various mediums including telephone, digital
and face to face
No bouncing between services - the access point has the right individuals and
knowledge to be able to support individuals and/or signpost appropriately
Interacting with staff from the beginning who are non-judgemental,
compassionate, empathetic, friendly and supportive
Contact with skilled, well trained and experienced staff
Help is located in an accessible and local place that provides good, tidy,
comfortable, and accessible environment
Individuals can access services directly
Joined up cohesive working across agencies (particularly health and social
care) to support individual needs

Stage 1: Principles

Principles: Assessment – What would be most important when staff
are assessing and understanding your need
•

•

•
•
•
•

75

•

There is a clear and transparent assessment process which the service users
feel fully involved in, have an equal say in their assessment which is centred
around their needs.
Assessed once and not passed about. First assessment is undertaken by a
member of staff who has the right skills, knowledge and experience and the
time to understand the needs of the individual.
When being assessed the service user needs to be treated with respect, not
judged and feels listened to and understood.
Assessment process avoids repetition and involves the multi-disciplinary team
with the right skills and knowledge
An Electronic system is used that provides access to all the relevant
information for all staff involved with the service user
Assessments undertaken when needed (timely and not delayed)
Joined up cohesive working across agencies (particularly health and social
care) to support individual needs

Stage 1: Principles

Principles: Treatment – What would be most important when getting
the support or treatment that you need?
•
•

•

•
•
•
•

76

•

Service users understand their choices, have options and create a clear
realistic individualised plan.
Service users are involved in creating a plan which they agree and continue to
collaborate on through regular reviews and that provides clear expectations on
what will be provided and when.
There is a support network for the service users through different people (e.g.
peer, GP, staff, friends and family) in a variety of ways when they need it.
Service users want consistency in who they see for their therapeutic
interventions
Treatment and support is provided without delay and in a timely manner.
The care is provided by appropriately skilled and competent staff who are kind
and welcoming.
Services delivered at the times and locations that are convenient for service
users to avoid them missing school or work.
Joined up cohesive working across agencies (particularly health and social
care) to support individual needs

Stage 1: Principles

Principles: Discharge – What would be most important when your
planned support ends and you leave our services?
•
•
•

•
•

77

•

Individuals want to be signposted and aided in building support locally from
peers and/or groups and community activities.
Individuals want to have a service contact point for when they need it
individuals want clear information on ways to stay well and how to re-access
service support when unwell
Discharge from service is planned early, is developed with service users, carers
and other agencies (e.g. GPs, social care) to be at the right time and provide a
seamless transition from the service.
Leaving services should be built around individuals recovery and the
achievement of goals that the service user has agreed
Joined up cohesive working across agencies (particularly health and social
care) to support individual needs

Stage 2: High Level Pathway - Access

78

Stage 2: High Level Pathway - Assessment

79

Stage 2: High Level Pathway - Treatment

80

Stage 2: High Level Pathway - Discharge

Information & support available outside of LPT services
Peer support workers
Recovery Approach
Joint working with social care and mental health/learning disabilities
Coordination and connection of all support (in and outside of LPT) for service user

81

Carer Pathway

Red to green in
community

Peer reviews

Discharge decision tool

Check-in
process

Telephone advice
line
Arbitration panel

Primary care collaboration
Shared Care
Intermediate support between GPs
and secondary care mental health

This page is intentionally left blank

83

Agenda Item 9

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 24th May 2018
REPORT OF LEICESTERSHIRE & RUTLAND LOCAL SAFEGUARDING
CHILDREN BOARD (LRLSCB)
SAFEGUARDING BOARD BUSINESS PLAN 2018/19
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to set out the Business Plan for the Leicestershire and
Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB) for 2018/19 for noting and
comment by the Health and Wellbeing Board.
Link to the local Health and Care System
2. Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility. Health and care needs can be linked to
safeguarding risk for adults and children and health and care practitioners can have
opportunities to identify and respond to safeguarding risk not available to workers in
other agencies.
Recommendation
3. It is recommended that the Board comments on the Business Plan 2018/19 for the
LRLSCB.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4. The LRLSCB is a partnership that is required by regulation as a result of the Children
Act 2004 and expectations of the Board are set out in Working Together 2015 which
requires that the Annual Report of the LRLSCB be presented to the Chair of the Health
and Wellbeing Board. In Leicestershire and Rutland we have, in addition, a protocol
between both safeguarding boards and the Health and Wellbeing Board that requires
the presentation of the draft business plans of the safeguarding boards with an
expectation that the Health and Wellbeing Board will consider any implications of
these plans for the health and well-being strategies of both counties
5. The Annual report of the LRLSCB for 2016/17 was presented to the Health and
Wellbeing board on 21 September 2017.

84

Background
Statutory Framework
6. The LRLSCB is a statutory body established as a result of Section 13 of the Children
Act 2004 and currently operates under statutory guidance issued in Working Together
2015.
7. Following the Children and Social Work Act 2017 and updated Working Together
guidance to be published in the Spring of 2018, the LSCB will be replaced by Multiagency safeguarding arrangements by 2019, but in the meantime it continues to work
to the current regulations.
Formulation of the Business Plans for 2018/19
8. Unlike previous years, for 2018/19 the LRLSCB business plan is not supplemented by
a plan incorporating shared priorities with the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding
Adults Board (LRSAB), as no areas of joint priority have been identified for the year.
9. The future improvement priorities identified in the Annual Report 2016/17 have been
built into the Business Plans for 2018/19. In addition to reflecting issues arising from
the Annual Report the new Business Plan priorities have been identified against a
range of national and local drivers including:
a. national safeguarding policy initiatives and drivers;
b. recommendations from regulatory inspections across partner agencies;
c. the outcomes of serious case reviews, serious incident learning processes,
domestic homicide reviews and other review processes both national and local;
d. evaluation of the business plans for 2017/18 including analysis of impact
afforded by the quality assurance and performance management framework;
e. best practice reports issued at both national and local levels;
f. the views expressed by both service users and front-line staff through the
Boards’ engagement and participation arrangements;
g. recommendations contained in the Ofsted review of the LRLSCB published on
13th February 2017 and the recommendations in the Ofsted inspections of
Leicestershire and Rutland Councils published on the same date.
10. The new Business Plan has been informed by discussions that have taken place in a
number of forums since the autumn of 2017. These include:
a. Meetings of the Scrutiny bodies in both Leicestershire and Rutland at which both
the LRLSCB and LRSAB Annual Reports 2016/17 and future priorities for action
have been debated.
b. Meetings of the Leicestershire and Rutland Health and Wellbeing Boards at
which both the LRLSCB and LRSAB Annual Reports 2016/17 and future
priorities for action have been debated.
c. Discussions within individual partner agencies.
11. The Business priorities were formulated through the annual development session of
the Board held on the 14 November 2017 and subsequent development and Board
meetings.

85

Business Plan Priorities
12. The LRLSCB Business Plan Priorities for 2018/19 are outlined in the table below.
LRLSCB Business Priorities
Priority

Summary

1. Partnership Transition

Influence the development of new multiagency safeguarding arrangements.

2. Multiple Risk Factors

The impact of multiple risk factors on
children is recognised, understood and
responded to across agencies.

3. Safeguarding Children Access to services

Ensure the pathways for access to
services for safeguarding children are
robust and effective.

4. Child Exploitation - (Child
Sexual Exploitation,
Trafficking, Missing and
Gangs)

Children at risk of exploitation are
effectively safeguarded.

5. Safeguarding Children with Improve the approach to safeguarding
Special Educational Needs children with Special Educational Needs
and Disabilities.
and Disabilities

Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
13. The views of a range of forums are being sought on the Business Plans. This includes
the Cabinets, Children and Adults and Scrutiny Committees and the Health and
Wellbeing Boards in both local authority areas.
14. The views of young people in Leicestershire and Rutland regarding the LSCB priorities
were sought through existing forums and have contributed to the selection of priorities
and elements of the plans.
15. Although the Business Plan was signed off by the LSCB at the meeting of 23rd March
2018, feedback from this panel and these forums will support the development of the
action plans for these priorities
Resource Implications
16. There are no resource implications arising from the recommendation in this report.
The LRLSCB operates with a budget to which partner agencies contribute under an
agreed formula.
17. The LRLSCB has a budget of £240,263.

86

Timetable for Decisions
18. The next LSCB meeting is scheduled for the 10th July 2018 when an update on the
Business plans will be presented.
Background papers
None
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None
Officer to Contact
Simon Westwood, Independent Chair of the LRLSCB
Telephone: 0116 305 7130
Email: SBBO@leics.gov.uk
Appendix
Business Plan 2018/19
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
19. The LRLSCB seek to ensure that a fair, effective and equitable service is discharged
by the partnership to safeguard vulnerable children. At the heart of the Boards work is
a focus on any individual or group that may be at greater risk of safeguarding
vulnerability and the performance framework tests whether specific groups are at
higher levels of risk. The Business Plans for 2018/19 will set out how the partnership
will seek to engage with all parts of the community in the coming year.
Crime and Disorder Implications
20. There is a close connection between the work of the LRLSCB and that of community
safety partnerships in Leicestershire. For example the LSCB works closely with
community safety partnerships to scrutinise and challenge performance in community
safety issues that affect the safeguarding and well-being of individuals and groups e.g.
Domestic Abuse. The LSCB also supports community safety partnerships in carrying
out Domestic Homicide Reviews and acting on their recommendations.
Environmental Implications
21. None
Partnership Working and associated issues

87
22. Safeguarding is dependent on the effective work of the partnership as set out in
national regulation, Working Together 2015, published by the Department for
Education.

This page is intentionally left blank

Version 1.0 14/05/18

89

Leicestershire and Rutland
Local Safeguarding Children Board
Business Development Plan 2018-19

1

Priority: LSCB1 Partnership transition
Priority Statement: Influencing transition to new effective multi-agency safeguarding children arrangements for Leicestershire and Rutland.
Rationale:
 The Children and Social Work Act 2017 abolishes Local Safeguarding Children Boards and requires the setup of Multi-agency safeguarding arrangements.
The nature and operation of these is governed by Working Together 2018 guidance and additional regulation. Arrangements are to be agreed by the
statutory partners (CCGs, Police and Local Authorities) by March 2019 and implemented by June 2019.
 The LSCB has experience it can feed into development of new arrangements and would want to be assured that the new arrangements will be effective in
safeguarding children in the future.
 Schools’ role in safeguarding children is essential and the new legislation and guidance provides an opportunity to clarify and strengthen this within multiagency arrangements.
 The LSCB will need to support effective transition to the new arrangements.
What do we want to be different?
Comprehensive multi-agency arrangements, focussed on safeguarding children, are ready for implementation at the end of March 2019.
The voice of children has been heard in the development of the arrangements and is a visible part of the new arrangements including the independent scrutiny.
Partnership Lead: Simon Westwood, Independent Chair
Board Officer: James Fox

Key delivery mechanism:
Objective

What are we going to do?

When is it going
to be done by?

Work with the ‘safeguarding partners’ to develop a
transition plan.

Jan 2019

With safeguarding partners implement the transition
plan.

Sept 2019

New arrangements are
focussed on safeguarding
children and incorporate the
voice of children

Establish a children and young people advisory
group to feed into the current Board and the
development of new arrangements and seek
approval of statutory partners.

July 2018

Receive reports on development of the new
arrangements.
Make the case to safeguarding partners for an
education advisory group to feed into development
of new arrangements.

Quarterly

The role for schools in the new
arrangements is clear and
understood by schools and
statutory partners

Version 1.0 14/ 05/18

March 2019

Independent
Chair

Independent
Chair and Board
office

Independent
Chair

How will we measure
progress and impact?
Transition Plan agreed by
statutory partners and in
place.
New arrangements
implemented by
September 2019.
Children and Young
People Advisory Group
established.

4 updates considered by
the Board in 2018-19.
Arrangements for Schools’
involvement in new
arrangements are agreed
and published.1st meeting
of the advisory group held
and terms of reference
agreed.

2

90

Transition to new multi-agency
safeguarding arrangements
takes place in line with the
Government timetable

Who is
responsible?

Priority: LSCB2 Multiple Risk Factors
Priority Statement: The impact of multiple risk factors on children is recognised, understood and responded to across agencies.
Rationale:
 Multiple risk factors including, but not limited to, the ‘trilogy of risk’ of mental health, domestic abuse and substance misuse in families multiply risk to
children when present together in their family lives. Poverty has been identified as a key risk factor that is often overlooked.
 Case reviews have identified that lack of engagement or disguised compliance by families in services multiplies risk of harm to children.
 Effective information sharing regarding domestic abuse can support reduced risk of harm to children.
 There is a need for agencies to improve understanding of the support resources available to respond to domestic abuse, substance misuse, mental health
problems.
What do we want to be different?
Pathways for support for safeguarding children provide guidance and response to lack of engagement or disguised compliance by parents to address the
additional risk of harm.
The Board is assured by the measures below that partner agency responses to domestic abuse affecting children are safeguarding them.
Partnership Lead: Head of Children’s Social Care, RCC
Board Officer: Gary Watts

Key delivery mechanism:
Objective

Version 1.0 14/05/18

When is it going
to be done by?

Who is
responsible?

How will we measure
progress and impact?

Research evidence of the impact of lack of engagement
or disguised compliance to be included in review of
pathway for access to services for safeguarding
children.

October 2018

Board Officer

Research report published
in review findings.

Review of pathways for accessing services to include
discussion across agencies regarding agency response
to lack of engagement and safeguarding.

Dec 2018

Lead Officer

Review to provide a report
to the Board with
recommendations for
change and learning.

Provide research findings and guidance online for
practitioners.

March 2019

Training group

Online guidance published
on the website and
through Safeguarding
matters.

Develop metrics to assess agencies’ response to lack
of parental engagement with safeguarding services.

March 2019

Business
Intelligence
Teams, County
and Rutland

Proposal for new metrics
to be recommended to the
Board.

3

91

Ensure that the additional
risk of lack of
engagement/disguised
compliance on safeguarding
risk is better understood and
assessed by practitioners

What are we going to do?

The review of access to services to include a review of
the approach to cases where key multiple risk factors
exist (trilogy of risk).

March 2019

Access to
Service Task
and Finish
group

Pathways / Thresholds for
access to services
published and include
reference to multiple risk
factors.

Ensure that approaches to
multiple risk factors are
informed by learning from
CDOP reviews

Review safeguarding-related findings from CDOP
reviews of multiple risk factors regarding suicide and
infant mortality.
Share the learning from this with Board partner
agencies.

September 2018

Lead Officer /
Mike McHugh

(See above) Report to
Board in Dec 18 to
reference these findings.

Provide assurance to the
Board that the partnership
response to domestic abuse
is safeguarding children

Complete a multi-agency file audit on domestic abuse
cases affecting children.

July 2018

Audit Chair
(Rebecca
Wilshire, RCC)
and Board
Office

File audit and
recommended action plan
presented to the Board.

Receive reports from the Domestic Abuse and Sexual
Violence (DASV) Executive on the effectiveness of
information sharing in domestic abuse cases where
safeguarding children is a concern.

October 2018

Chair of DASV
Exec

Assurance Reports
received by the Board
identifying any barriers to
information sharing that
need to be tackled.

Receive a report from the DASV Executive regarding
the impact of domestic abuse provision and approaches
to safeguarding children.

Jan 2019

Work with the County Safer Communities Board to
make sure leadership and governance for children
affected by domestic abuse are clear.

October 2018

Version 1.0 14/ 05/18

Report identifies provision
available, any unmet
needs and includes
numbers of children
identified as affected and
the type of support
provided.
Independent
Chair

Leadership and
Governance agreed and
linked to published future
safeguarding
arrangements.

4

92

Ensure that pathways for
access to services address
multiple risk factors

Priority: LSCB3 Safeguarding Children – Access to services
Priority Statement: Ensure the pathways for access to services for safeguarding children are robust and effective.
Rationale:
 The partnerships have identified across LLR that the current ‘Threshold’ documents require revision and the LLR Procedures Group has this as part of
their action plan.
 In addition the Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB has adopted this as part of the 2018 -19 Business plan.
What do we want to be different?
 The intention is to ensure that there are revised and published ‘pathways for access to services’ that are compatible with the new Working Together
statutory guidance, are clear to staff and cover as broad a range of potential factors and risks as possible.
 The partnerships have identified across LLR that the current ‘Threshold’ documents require revision and the LLR Procedures Group has this in their
action plan.
 The revised document will enable practitioners from different partner agencies to discuss children and families using a shared language which will lead
to them receiving the right service at the right time.
Partnership Lead: Chris Nerini, LCC
Board Officer: Chris Tew

Key delivery mechanism: Pathways Task and Finish Group
Objective
What are we going to do?

Who is
responsible?

How will we measure
progress and impact?

Gather together examples of ‘pathways/thresholds for
access to services’ from other areas to be able to
compare with our current procedures and develop
updated procedures.

July 2018

Board Office

Examples of good practice
will have been identified
and shared with the Task
and Finish group.

Convene a Task and Finish group comprising of
suitable representatives from key agencies across LLR
including Local Authority, Police, and Health
(commissioning and major health provider agencies) to
review local thresholds.

June 2018

Board Office

The identified
Safeguarding partners will
be actively engaged in the
task.

Hold sufficient meetings to develop new procedures,
taking into account the views of professionals in all key
agencies and the provisions of the new Working
Together statutory Guidance.

June 2018 to
October 2018

Task and Finish
Group

Consistent representation
from all key agencies on
the Task and Finish group.

By March 2019

LLR Procedures
Group

Pathways / Thresholds for
access to services
published.

Ensure these procedures cover as many of the
situations that may be experienced by professional staff
dealing with children and families as possible.
Complete the new procedures and publish them via the
LLR Procedures Subgroup.

Version 1.0 14/05/18

5

93

Updated
pathways/thresholds for
access to services are
developed and published

When is it going
to be done by?

Test implementation as part of case file audits when in
place alongside other Safeguarding Assurance activity
including the views of children and families and the
workforce.

March 2019
onwards

LLR Case file
audit groups

Compliance with revised
procedures and
thresholds.

SEG / PAAG

Audits indicate evidence of
multi-agency working
through timely assessment
and access to services.

94

Version 1.0 14/ 05/18

6

Priority: LSCB4 Child Exploitation (Child Sexual Exploitation, Trafficking, Missing and Gangs)
Priority Statement: Children at risk of exploitation are effectively safeguarded.
Rationale:
 CSE, Trafficking and Missing continue to be high level safeguarding priorities at national and local levels. During 2016/17 changes to the governance of
multi-agency CSE work has focused the LSCB’s role on scrutiny and challenge. The Ofsted review of the LSCB in 2016 identified the need to improve
details in the analysis of missing return interviews. A multi-agency audit regarding missing children scheduled for 2017/18 is still outstanding.
 Partnership Funding for several projects tackling CSE specifically end in 2018/19.
 Gangs may be an emerging issue in the area.
 Children missing education are particularly vulnerable group.
What do we want to be different?
The Board is assured through the planned actions that children at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation are being effectively safeguarded.
The operational approach to safeguarding missing children is informed by the outcomes of return interviews and the number of those refusing to participate are
minimised.
The Board is assured by the planned actions below that partner agencies are working together to ensure children missing education are tracked, and where
safeguarding concerns are assessed are referred for support.
Partnership Lead: Simon Cure, Police
Board Officer: Sanj Pattani

Key delivery mechanism:
Objective

Version 1.0 14/05/18

Carry out a case file audit regarding Child Sexual
Exploitation.

When is it going
to be done by?
September 2019

Who is
responsible?

How will we measure
progress and impact?

Audit Chair: Teo
Bott (tbc), audit
will be across
LLR

Audit outcome and action
plan report to Board.

Receive reports on the impact on service provision of
any changes in funding regarding CSE.

CSE Executive
Chair

Report received and
actions to mitigate any
risks identified and
monitored.
Report whether numbers
at high and medium risk
are being reduced.

Raise awareness through:
 Training opportunities
 SPDF CSE Project work stream ‘Faith and
Communities CSE Champion Service’
(operating as EngageME)
 CSE communications and engagement strategy
and action plan including development of
educational resources

CSE, Missing
and Trafficked
Operations
Group

Quarterly performance
reports.

7

95

Gain assurance that the
approach to Child Sexual
Exploitation safeguards
children

What are we going to do?

Seek assurance thorough an
audit of return interviews that
the approach to children
going missing safeguards
children

Receive reports on the analysis of return interviews and
how this informs work to safeguard children going
missing in future. Include in this the number and
reasons of any refusal to cooperate.

October 2018 and
March 2019

December 2018
Carry out a case file audit regarding Children going
Missing

Ensure Children Missing
from Education are tracked
and safeguarded where
necessary

Seek assurance from the LAs that children missing from October 2018
education are identified quickly and that effective
tracking systems are put in place to enable effective
action to be taken to refer on safeguarding concerns.
To ensure that children placed in care in Leicestershire
and Rutland from other Authorities are identified as a
separate group by Authority.

LA Children
Missing
education leads

Develop and share learning
about local approaches to
safeguarding regarding
gangs

Monitor emergence of referrals regarding gangs.

Police

Monitor referrals regarding
gangs. Report numbers
and types of concern and
strategies in place to
tackle these.

LLR LSCB

Young people’s views
reported to Board and
priority lead.

November 2018

Develop safeguarding procedures regarding gangs.

March 2019

To have a clear
identification of the levels
of CSE risk of all children
placed in Leicestershire
and Rutland from other
Authorities
All children missing
education are tracked and
whereabouts known. The
numbers, types of
safeguarding concerns are
reported and outcomes of
those report risks have
been addressed.

Joint procedures in place
and disseminated.

8

96

To distinguish in the data analysis risk assessments for
children placed in Leicestershire and Rutland from
other LAs and report this to the CSE Hub

Seek the views of the Board’s Young Persons Advisory
group on this matter.

Police

Audit outcome and action
plan report to Board.

To ensure that Authorities
placing children in
Leicestershire and Rutland
notify the LA of any CSE risk
assessments

Version 1.0 14/ 05/18

December 2018

Audit Chair
(Leics Police),
audit will be
across LLR but
provide
information by
LA

Priority: LSCB5 Safeguarding and Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
Priority Statement: Improve the approach to safeguarding children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities.
Rationale:
 The LSCB organisational assessment and case file audit regarding Children with Disabilities in 2017/18 identified areas to further develop practice.
What do we want to be different?
Additional safeguarding risks regarding children with special educational needs and disabilities are recognised and responded to effectively.
Partnership Lead: Carolyn Corbett, Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust
Board Officer: Helen Pearson

Key delivery mechanism: Task and Finish Group
Objective
What are we going to do?

Further action may be added
when the organisational
assessment and case file audit
is reported to the Board in July

Version 1.0 14/05/18

Who is
responsible?

How will we measure
progress and impact?

Revive the former Task and Finish group with
involvement across agencies.

June 2018

Lead and Board
office

Procedures produced in
line with standards.

Review safeguarding procedures regarding children
with disabilities in line with the organisational
assessment findings.

March 2019

Procedures
Subgroup / Task
and Finish
Group

Follow up audit in 2019/10
to check compliance and
outcomes.

Review findings to be considered in the access to
services review.

March 2019

Pathways Task
and Finish
Group

Feedback from children
with disabilities and
families on procedures.

Develop and use awareness raising material to promote
good safeguarding of children with disabilities.

March 2019

Task and Finish
Group

Increased self-reported
awareness and confidence
from those attending
spotlight event.

All agencies to review accessibility of complaints
processes and other information relevant to disabled
children and their families.

January 2019

All Board
Members

Review completed and
action to address any
concerns reported to the
Board.

Carry out a spotlight event focussed on safeguarding
children with special educational needs and disabilities
in conjunction with Leicester City LSCB.

September 2018

LLR LSCB
Training Group

Event held and practitioner
feedback reported to the
LLR Children’s Joint
Executive.

9

97

Ensure that work with
children with special
educational needs and
disabilities considers and
responds to their specific
additional safeguarding risk

When is it going
to be done by?

This page is intentionally left blank

99

Agenda Item 10

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 24th May 2018
REPORT OF LEICESTERSHIRE & RUTLAND SAFEGUARDING ADULTS
BOARD (LRSAB)
SAFEGUARDING BOARD BUSINESS PLAN 2018/19
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to set out the draft proposed Business Plan for the
Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adult Board LRSAB for 2018/19 for noting
and comment by the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Link to the local Health and Care System
2.

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility. Health and care needs can be linked to
safeguarding risk for adults and children and health and care practitioners can have
opportunities to identify and respond to safeguarding risk not available to workers in
other agencies.

3.

Connectivity between the LRSAB and the Better Care Together (BCT) Programme
was established during 2014/15 when the Board was a consultee during the process
of formulating the BCT Five Year Strategic Plan 2014-19. At that stage it was agreed
that safeguarding would be a cross-cutting theme across the BCT Programme and
secured agreement to ensure that the BCT Programme would incorporate, promote,
measure and evaluate safeguarding outcomes within its improvement plans.

Recommendation
4.

The Board is asked to comment on the proposed Business Plan 2018/19 for the
LRSAB.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
5. The LRSAB is a partnership that is required by regulation as a result of the Care Act
2014. One requirement of the Care Act 2014 is that the Annual Report of the LRSAB
be presented to the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board. In Leicestershire and
Rutland we have, in addition, a protocol between both safeguarding boards and the
Health and Wellbeing Board that requires the presentation of the draft business plans
of the safeguarding boards with an expectation that the Health and Wellbeing Board
will consider any implications of these plans for the health and well-being strategies
of both counties.

100

6. The Annual Report of the LRSAB for 2016/17 was presented to the Health and
Wellbeing Board on 21 September 2017.
Background
Statutory Framework
7.

The LRSAB became a statutory body on 1st April 2015 as a result of the Care Act
2014. The Act requires that it must lead adult safeguarding arrangements across its
locality and oversee and coordinate the effectiveness of the safeguarding work of its
member and partner agencies. It requires the LRSAB to develop and actively
promote a culture with its members, partners and the local community that
recognises the values and principles contained in ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’. It
should also concern itself with a range of issues which can contribute to the
wellbeing of its community and the prevention of abuse and neglect, such as:
• The safety of people who use services in local health settings, including
mental health
• The safety of adults with care and support needs living in social housing
• Effective interventions with adults who self-neglect, for whatever reason
• The quality of local care and support services
• The effectiveness of prisons in safeguarding offenders
• Making connections between adult safeguarding and domestic abuse.

8.

These points have been addressed in drawing up the Business Plan for 2018/19.

9.

Safeguarding Adult Boards have three core duties. They must:
• Develop and publish a strategic plan setting out how they will meet their
objectives and how their member and partner agencies will contribute;
• Publish an annual report detailing how effective their work has been
• Commission safeguarding adults reviews (SARs) for any cases which meet
the criteria for these.

10. It is the first of these duties to which the Business Plan relates since this plan outlines
the strategy for improvement.
Formulation of the Business Plans for 2018/19
11. Unlike previous years, for 2018/19 the LRLSAB business plan is not supplemented by
a plan incorporating shared priorities with the Leicestershire and Rutland Local
Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB), as no areas of joint priority have been
identified this year.
12. The future improvement priorities identified in the Annual Report 2016/17 have been
built into the Business Plans for 2018/19. In addition to reflecting issues arising from
the Annual Report the new Business Plan priorities have been identified against a
range of national and local drivers including:
a. national safeguarding policy initiatives and drivers;
b. recommendations from regulatory inspections across partner agencies;

101
c. the outcomes of serious case reviews, serious incident learning processes,
domestic homicide reviews and other review processes both national and local;
d. evaluation of the business plans for 2017/18 including analysis of impact
afforded by the quality assurance and performance management framework;
e. best practice reports issued at both national and local levels;
f. the views expressed by both service users and front-line staff through the
Boards’ engagement and participation arrangements;
13. The new Business Plan has been informed by discussions that have taken place in a
number of forums since the autumn of 2017. These include:
a. Meetings of the Scrutiny bodies in both Leicestershire and Rutland at which both
the LRLSCB and LRSAB Annual Reports 2016/17 and future priorities for action
have been debated.
b. Meetings of the Leicestershire and Rutland Health and Wellbeing Boards at
which both the LRLSCB and LRSAB Annual Reports 2016/17 and future
priorities for action have been debated.
c. Discussions within individual partner agencies.
14. The Business priorities were formulated through the annual development session of
the Board held on the 14 November 2017 and subsequent development and Board
meetings.

Business Plan Priorities
15. The LRSAB Business Plan Priorities for 2018/19 are outlined in the table below.

Development Priority
1. Prevention of
Safeguarding
Need

Summary
Prevention of safeguarding need through building
resilience and self-awareness in adults with care
and support needs.

2. Mental Capacity

Improve the understanding of capacity to consent
and the application of the Mental Capacity Act
across agencies.

3. Adult Thresholds

Promote better and more consistent
understanding and use of adult safeguarding
thresholds.

4. Engagement

Ensure the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board
is informed by adults with care and support
needs.

102
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
16.

The views of a range of forums are being sought on the Business Plans. This
includes the Cabinets, Children and Adults and Scrutiny Committees and the Health
and Wellbeing Boards in both local authority areas.

17. Although the Business plan was signed off by the LSAB at the meeting of the 23rd
March 2018, feedback from this panel and these forums will support the development
of the action plan for these priorities.
Resource Implications
18. There are no resource implications arising from the recommendation in this report.
The LRSAB operate with a budget to which partner agencies contribute under an
agreed formula. The LRLSAB has a budget of £100,878
Timetable for Decisions
19. The next SAB meeting is scheduled for 12th July 2018 when an update on the
Business plans will be presented.
Background papers
None
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None
Officer to Contact
Robert Lake, Independent Chair of the LRSAB
Telephone: 0116 305 7130
Email: SBBO@leics.gov.uk
Appendix
Business Plan 2018/19
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
20. The LRSAB seek to ensure that a fair, effective and equitable service is discharged
by the partnership to safeguard vulnerable adults. At the heart of their work is a focus
on any individual or group that may be at greater risk of safeguarding vulnerability
and the performance framework tests whether specific groups are at higher levels of
risk. The Business Plans for 2018/19 will set out how the partnership will seek to
engage with all parts of the community in the coming year.

103
Crime and Disorder Implications
21. There is a close connection between the work of the LRSAB and that of community
safety partnerships in Leicestershire. For example the LSAB works closely with
community safety partnerships to scrutinise and challenge performance in community
safety issues that affect the safeguarding and well-being of individuals and groups
e.g. Domestic Abuse. The LSAB also supports community safety partnerships in
carrying out Domestic Homicide Reviews and acting on their recommendations.
Environmental Implications
22. None
Partnership Working and associated issues
23. Safeguarding is dependent on the effective work of the partnership as set out in Care
Act 2014.

This page is intentionally left blank

Version 1.0

14/05/18

105

Leicestershire and Rutland
Safeguarding Adults Board
Business Development Plan 2018-19

1

Priority: SAB1 Prevention of Safeguarding Need
Priority Statement: Prevention of Safeguarding need through building resilience and self-awareness in adults with care and support needs.
Rationale:
Prevention is key in reducing harm and fear of harm, improving safety and quality of life
Early intervention can reduce pressure on higher level, higher cost services.
Scoping work has found practitioners across agencies are keen to support prevention and tools are often in place, but not used as effectively as they could to
prevent safeguarding need.
Services that support prevention of safeguarding harm could be better understood and engaged in safeguarding adults.
Effective transition from children’s services, such as Looked After Children, Children on Child Protection Plans, and those affected by CSE, may support
prevention of adult safeguarding need.
What do we want to be different?
Build resilience in adults with care and support needs
Build self-awareness regarding health and wellbeing and safeguarding risk
The Board is assured that work with young people who have been assessed as requiring additional support to reduce risk and vulnerability (including LAC,
CIN, CP, CSE) assists prevention of adult safeguarding need.
Partnership Lead: John Morley - RCC

Board Officer: Sanj Pattani

Objective
Develop Specific options identified
by prevention group in 2017/18
(awareness, work with JAGs…)

What are we going to do?
Identify all tools available to support building
resilience, self-awareness and preventing adult
safeguarding need (including JAGs, VARMs and
Transition Boards)
Work to develop prevention of adult safeguarding
need within these tools.
Raise awareness regarding adult safeguarding
and abuse.

Version 1.0

14/05/18

When is it going
to be done by?
September 2018

Who is
responsible?
Prevention Task
and Finish
group (T & F)

How will we measure
progress and impact?
Utilise the scoping report in
order to trial with forums
such as JAGs
Consider links into the Audit
Sub-Group for review of
tools such as VARM.
Consider awareness raising
options for both the
community and
professionals such as
information sharing events,
sharing resources and
promotion.
2

106

Key delivery mechanism:

Housing providers are
appropriately involved in the work
of the SAB

Link with housing provider forums.

Prevention Task
and Finish
group

Use ADASS MSP guidance for housing providers
as a starting point for conversation of Board
involvement.
Ensure safeguarding is considered in personal
prevention plans.

Education and Training with
children’s services

Meaningful Joint working should be promoted at
an earlier stage before 18th birthday.

October 2018

Prevention Task
and Finish
group

Raise awareness regarding adult
safeguarding/abuse and services/pathways
available to support children and families which
may reduce risk and suggest modifications to
enable the objective.

Joint training should be identified and promoted
which looks at learning from research, regulatory
standards and relevant legislation on prevention.
Identify learning from SCR/SAR to promote an
integrated approach to safeguarding adult’s
prevention across all agencies.
Consider promotion at provider level with an aim
of preventing abuse and neglect occurring in Care
Homes and within domiciliary care provisions.

Joint learning and
development between
Adults/Children’s services.

October 2018

Prevention Task
and Finish
group

Ensure that young people at
risk are recognised in
forums such as JAGs.
Scope best practice/training
currently available with a
prevention focus (via the
Prevention T & F) to identify
any potential gaps and
feedback areas for
improvement into relevant
agencies L and D
groups/teams.
Joint workshops/peer
learning from SCR/SARs.
Build links with Provider
forums and QA Services.

Version 1.0 14/05/18

3

107

Be assured that the needs of
young people requiring additional
support into adulthood, including
LAC, CIN, CP, CSE are reviewed
and supported in a timely
preventative way through that
transition.

Housing Providers are
aware of the forums/tools
that support Safeguarding
prevention – assurance to
be provided via provider
representation at the
Prevention T & F and
identify actions to be taken
forward.
Review agency awareness
of the “Prevention Duty” –
scoping via identified
agencies within the
Prevention Sub-group.
Link to learning from subgroups such as trilogy of
risk T & F, LSCB subgroups.

Priority: SAB2 Mental Capacity
Priority Statement: Improve the understanding of capacity to consent and the application of the Mental Capacity Act across agencies.
Rationale:
 Practitioner feedback suggests there is a lack of confidence across agencies in understanding and assessing capacity to consent.
 Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) and other reviews have identified the use of the term ‘lack of capacity’ as a generic statement, without reference
to specific decisions, which is inaccurate and unhelpful.
 Consistency in the application of the Mental Capacity Act could be improved across agencies.
What do we want to be different?
 The Mental Capacity Act is applied with relevance and consistency within partner agencies
 Across agencies there is increased understanding of and confidence in the undertaking of Mental Capacity Assessments in relation to ‘consent’ and
decision making
 The workforce has improved understanding of the resources available to support the service user participating in informed ‘decision’ making.
 The Board is assured of effective application of the Mental Capacity Act across agencies
Partnership Lead: Rachel Garton - CCG

Board Officer: Helen Pearson

Key delivery mechanism:
What are we going to do?

1. The workforce across agencies
has greater understanding of the
principles and responsibilities
under the Mental Capacity Act and
its relevance to Safeguarding
Adults.

Through a variety of methods/media we will
reinforce the principles and responsibilities under
the Mental Capacity Act (See also Objective 2)
Stage 1 Set up Task and Finish Group to agree
the scope/objectives and allocate tasks

End of May 2018

Stage 2 Deliver on agreed objectives
(see also Objective 2)

March 2019

Stage 3 Assess Progress and impact
(see Objective 3)

Version 1.0

14/05/18

When is it going
to be done by?

Feb/March 2018

Who is
responsible?

How will we measure
progress and impact?

The Task and
Finish Group will
provide
oversight. Tasks
may be
delegated to
existing groups.

Survey staff understanding
across agencies.

Links will be
made with the
City SAB to
agree LLR work
streams

Link to data re Making
Safeguarding Personal and
the use of the Vulnerable
Adults Risk Management
tool (VARM)

Baseline and retest/sample
number of alerts / enquiries
that state ‘No Capacity but
lack an assessment.

4

108

Objective

2.The workforce across agencies
has increased confidence in
undertaking capacity assessments
and supported decision making

Version 1.0 14/05/18

Survey staff confidence
across agencies.

March 2019

As Above

Stage 3
Gain assurance that agencies are effectively
embedding approaches to assessing mental
capacity within their procedures, practice and
learning and development.

Test through case file audits
March 2019

As Above

Request specific assurance
report from agencies on
their work to embed
approaches to mental
capacity.

5

109

All partners have embedded an
approach to the Mental Capacity
Act that enables staff to confidently
and consistently carry out mental
capacity assessments and offer
appropriate support.

Develop partnership guidance to demystify mental
capacity and support effective assessments. This
may include:
- Consider development of a toolkit
- Communication (including first steps /
principles / questions to support assessment)
- Multi-Agency Procedures and Practice
guidance (e.g. basic steps as above) –
included in Adult and Children Safeguarding
Procedures
- Guidance and awareness regarding use of
advocates /interpreters and other
communication aids
- Learning and Development (Multi-agency
workshops with information to cascade within
organisations)

Priority: SAB3 Adult Safeguarding Thresholds
Priority Statement: Promote a better and more consistent understanding and use of adult safeguarding thresholds.
Rationale:
 The Threshold guidance was initially a tool for supporting the Local Authority decision making but is now to be used by all referrers however the wider
use still needs embedding. This guidance is available via the Multi-Agency Procedures
 Whilst there is a good balance of referral and application of thresholds there were still concerns regarding consistency of use of thresholds across
different settings
 Guidance on Section 42 enquiries in health settings has been introduced in 2017/18.
 Work has taken place with providers in other settings regarding their role in Section 42 enquiries.
 The role of independent/private sector in Section 42 enquiries regarding application of thresholds sometimes conflicts with advice given by CQC.
What do we want to be different?
Growing and consistent application of thresholds across all organisations
Assurance that S42 enquiries in health settings are being carried out in line with guidance
Assurance that all service providers are carrying out their role in Section 42 enquiries appropriately.
Partnership Lead: Laura Saunderson - LCC

Board Officer: Chris Tew

Key delivery mechanism:
Objective

Updated procedures produced. Agreed by multi
agency partners and published for all staff in
agencies across LLR

When is it going
to be done by?
July 2018

Who is
responsible?

How will we measure
progress and impact?

Laura
Sanderson and
the LLR SAB
procedures sub
Group

Continue to monitor alerts
and enquiries overall and
from different sources.

110

Develop approaches to support
consistent use of thresholds.

What are we going to do?

Look for reduction in
alerts/increase in proportion
of alerts that become
enquiries.
Case file audit of referrals.
Document audit of agency
referral/incident forms.
.
Version 1.0

14/05/18

6

Ensure the work completed has
been adopted by agencies and is
improving performance

July 2018

Laura
Sanderson as a
member of
EMSAN

Consider single referral form or common
language across agency forms to support
consistent application of thresholds. LCC work
with care providers and partner agencies

September 2018

Laura
Sanderson and
the SAB
Procedures
Group

Work with CQC to get a better understanding of
the roles of commissioners/regulators in
safeguarding threshold reporting to ensure the
expectations of CQC on providers does not
conflict with the requirements of the L.A’s across
LLR

September 2018

Laura
Sanderson and
Local Authority
partners from
Leicester City &
Rutland

Ensure the new procedures and other changes
are communicated across LLR partner agencies
by utilising
 Safeguarding Matters publication and
equivalent in City
 Single agency communication methods
 Highlight in training and awareness events
Across LLR

September 2018

Senior agency
staff in agencies

By monitoring performance through SEG data
throughout the year

During the year
2018 -19

Sample review of alerts to ensure that they meet
safeguarding thresholds and common themes.

Version 1.0 14/05/18

Agency assurance reports
on approaches

Board to provide challenge
where appropriate.
Monitoring as above.

111

Develop understanding and
confidence in the use of
safeguarding thresholds

By liaison with East Midlands Safeguarding Adults
Network (EMSAN) ensure consistency across the
Region

SAB training
group
SBBO to ensure
in Safeguarding
Matters

SEG

During the
business year 2018 SAB Audit
-19 or early in 2019 Group
- 20 dependent on
capacity in Audit
plan

Board to provide challenge
where appropriate.

7

Priority: SAB4 Engagement
Priority Statement: Ensuring the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board is informed by adults with care and support needs
Rationale:
Listening and responding to the wishes of adults with care and support needs should be at the heart of all the Board does.
Whilst work on making safeguarding personal is increasing the response to the wishes of adults with care and support needs within individual safeguarding
situations this is not visible at the Board level and there is room for more engagement in the overall work of the Board.
What do we want to be different?
The voice and wishes of adults with care and support needs is clearly influencing the work of the SAB.
Partnership Lead: No lead officer to be appointed

Board Officer: Gary Watts

Key delivery mechanism:
Objective
The views of adults with care and
support needs are visible at the
board

Version 1.0 14/05/18

When is it going
to be done by?
October 2018

Who is
responsible?
Board Office

How will we measure
progress and impact?
The Board’s priorities for
2019 onwards are clearly
influenced by the views of
adults

Present an individual adult safeguarding case
study at each Board meeting, including key
messages from the individual to the Board.

January 2019

Statutory
partners’ Board
members

Case studies presented at
each SAB from January
2019. Actions arising from
presentations.

Each agency to present to the Board regarding
MSP including:
 Implementation of MSP
 The impact of MSP in their practice on
adults with care and support needs
 Working in line with the ADASS guidance
for their agency

January 2019

Statutory
partners’ Board
members

Improvements in
embedding approach seen
in data and partners
reports.

Detailed review of Making Safeguarding Personal
data.

January 2019

Work with advocacy agencies and existing
engagement and participation groups in partner
agencies to set up the Board approach for
engagement and participation in the priorities and
work of the Board.

Actions arising from
presentation

SEG

8

112

The board has assurance
regarding the ongoing effective
implementation of making
safeguarding personal

What are we going to do?

113

Agenda Item 11

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 24 MAY 2018
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
BETTER CARE FUND Q4 2017/18 PERFORMANCE
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an
update on the Better Care Fund (BCF) programme, including assurance on the
national quarterly reporting requirements for the BCF.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The BCF policy framework was introduced by the Government in 2014, with the first
year of BCF plan delivery being 2015/16. The County Council’s Cabinet in February
2014 authorised the Health and Wellbeing Board to approve the BCF Plan and plans
arising from its use.

3.

The Board received papers on the Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) performance
at its meeting on 16th November 2017, 25th January 2018 and 22nd March 2018

4.

NHS England issued BCF implementation guidance for 2017-19 in July 2018
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/ which sets
out the requirements for quarterly reporting along with the draft templates and
analytical tools that are required to be used for this purpose.

Background
5.

The Leicestershire BCF Plan for 2017-19 was submitted on 8th September 2017 to
NHS England. Confirmation was received on 20th December 2017 that the plan was
fully approved.

6.

The purpose of the BCF is to transform and improve the integration of local health
and care services, in particular to:
a. Reduce the dependency on hospital services, in favour of providing more
integrated community based support, such as reablement, early intervention and
prevention;
b. Promote seven day working across health and care services;
c. Promote care which is planned around the individual, with improved care planning
and data sharing across agencies.

114
Financial Outturn for 2017/18
7.

The BCF expenditure plan totalled £52.1m in 2017/18. This was made up of the
following income streams:
BCF Approved Budget
CCG Minimum Contributions
CCG Additional Contribution
Disabled Facilities Grants
Improved BCF (IBCF)
Total Funding

8.

WLCCG ELRCCG
£’000
£’000
20,843
15,838
1,367
1,195
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
22,210
17,034

LCC/DC
£’000
Nil
Nil
3,350
9,526
12,876

Total
£’000
36,682
2,563
3,350
9,526
52,120

The actual outturn for 2017/18 was for £51.9m, with the £253,000 underspend
released back to CCGs by agreement to off-set other system/financial pressures. The
expenditure plan included a £2m contingency and cost improvement allocation.

Performance against BCF Outcome Metrics at the end of 2017/18
9.

The BCF plan is measured against four outcome metrics. For Leicestershire,
progress against the key targets is shown in Appendix A.

10. The BCF target for the number of permanent admissions of older people into
residential and nursing care homes was not achieved during 2017/18. There were
920 admissions in 2017/18; a 6% increase on the previous year. The council is
looking to increase the provision extra care and supported living places to reduce
reliance on residential care and to offer more choice and independence.
11. The target for the proportion of older people who were still at home 91 days after
discharge was statistically similar to the target but fell just short of the target. During
the past 12 months, performance has varied from 84% (Feb-Apr 2017 discharges) to
92% (Jul-Sept discharges). Final performance is based on Oct-Dec 2017 discharges.
12. The overall performance on emergency admissions continues to be challenging for
the whole of Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR). The new model of urgent
care, which the BCF contributes towards, was commissioned with effect from April
2017 across LLR. However, the rate of admissions for Leicestershire has not
reduced during 2017/18. For the period April 2017 to March 2018 there have been
67,068 non-elective admissions, against a target of 60,582 – a variance of 6,486. A
proportion of the over-performance was due to a significant coding and counting
change in the Children’s Assessment Unit.
13. There has been considerable concern around Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC)
performance during 2017/18. The NHS England Mandate for 2017/18 set a target for
reducing DTOCs to 3.5% of occupied consultant bed days by November 2017. For
Leicestershire, this equated to DTOCs not exceeding 6.8 in every 100,000. The table
below highlights current performance across LLR and health and social care sectors.

115
Leicestershire’s DTOC performance – days delayed per day per 100,000 of 18+
population
NHS
Delays

LA
Delays

Joint

Total

Target for November 2017

3.78

1.33

1.73

6.84

Performance at November 2017

5.80

1.20

0.99

8.00

Performance at March 2018

6.12

0.37

0.65

7.14

14. Despite not meeting the national target for 2017/18, health and care partners across
LLR have worked tirelessly to deliver significant, measureable improvements to
transfers out of hospital and reduce DTOCs, achieving a stepped change in
performance. There has been a system-wide approach across partners, which the
BCF contributes towards and significant levels of BCF and Improved BCF funding
allocated to supporting managing transfers of care.
15. Overall during 2017/18, there were 18,000 days lost to delayed transfer of care for
Leicestershire residents; a 21% reduction on 2016/17.
16.

For delayed days specifically attributable to adult social care (ASC) there were 2,261
days during 2017/18 – a reduction of 24% on 2016/17. The breakdown of ASC
delays showed that during 2017/18 there was a reduction of 74% at University of
Leicester, 8% at Leicestershire Partnership Trust and 36% at hospitals outside of the
county.

Overall Achievements of the Leicestershire BCF Plan 2017/18
17. The implementation of the integration programme in Leicestershire continues at
pace.
18. An interactive presentation can be found at this web link
(https://prezi.com/view/4S3DihUuIx4Oo860Mrfu/) which highlights the achievements
of the BCF over the past two years.
19. The following is a summary of the highlights:
20. Unified Prevention Offer – in Leicestershire, work is being completed to develop a
co-designed prevention offer that wraps around people, communities and locality
teams, targeted to maintaining wellbeing and independence. This involves working
with a range of partners to provide preventative services along with local coordination
in communities to ensure that vulnerable people have better access to information,
support and advice to help them stay well and independent and avoid reaching crisis
point. The BCF has helped to bring together the work of District/Borough Councils,
the County Council, local NHS providers and CCGs to achieve this.
21. Work has begun to develop the social prescribing model as the wrap around
prevention offer to support Integrated Locality Teams (ILT). The ILT’s will initially
focus around three cohorts of needs; people with long-term conditions, those who are
frail and patients that are high cost service users.

116
22. The prevention model will include universal services, targeted services and locality
based services. Building the locality part of the prevention offer will be done in
conjunction with voluntary sector organisations and led by Health Leads in District
Councils.
23. First Contact Plus aims to support residents of Leicestershire aged 16+ to access
low level preventative services via direct referral, signposting or by information and
advice. This can be done by phone or via the web (www.firstcontactplus.org.uk).
There is the capacity for 300+ teams/organisations in Leicestershire to make referrals
to First Contact Plus for some of their most vulnerable customers. First Contact Plus
has 93 pathways to partners’ services covering all seven districts of Leicestershire.
Customers can also self-refer.
24. From a recent service evaluation we know that 85% of referrals made to partner
agencies result in services being delivered. A total of 99.5% of customers were
happy with the information provided by First Contact Plus during the triage call and
93% of customers were happy with services delivered by partner organisations.
25. The county-wide roll-out of the award winning Lightbulb integrated housing
support service took place on 2nd October 2017. The service is a pioneering
programme which aims to make it easier to find and receive practical housing
support to live at home. The overall ambition of the programme is to maximise the
contribution that housing support can play in keeping vulnerable people independent
in their own homes, helping to avoid unnecessary hospital admissions or GP visits
and facilitating timely hospital discharge.
26. Part of the Lightbulb service is the Hospital Housing Enablement scheme which
focuses on people being discharged from hospital. The service aims to enable
patients to settle back into a safe home as quickly as possible when they are
medically ready to be discharged. The scheme places housing specialists within the
acute and mental health hospital sites, to work with the patient and hospital staff to
identify housing issues that are a barrier to discharge and then puts in place the right
steps so patients can return home as soon as possible. It also enables ongoing
support once they are home, including help with furniture and access to benefits. In
addition to the benefits to patients themselves, the Hospital Housing Enablement
scheme showed that it significantly reduced the cost of housing related delays during
the pilot phase of the project.
27. Assistive Technology (AT) – an options appraisal report was produced in 2017
which outlined the key activities that would need to be considered to enable the
county council and other partners to specify priorities for AT in the home, and
consider how new technologies might be deployed to replace traditional call
button/pull cord based services.
28. Partners have since specified their requirements for AT which are being used to
inform initial exploratory discussions with suppliers and an invitation to demonstrate
their products and latest innovations in July 2018.
29. In developing the future strategy for AT in the home, the work will also consider how
solutions align with developments within the LLR Digital Roadmap.

117
30. A new dementia service was procured across LLR during 2017, which launched in
October 2017. The service offers pre and post diagnostic support and guidance for
people with memory issues and/or diagnosis of dementia and to offer support and
guidance also to carer(s). The service also provides support to health and social care
professionals through good partnership working and establishment of proactive
relationships.
31. The Health and Social Care Protocol to date training for staff using this protocol
has been delivered by classroom style training. New models of training have been
considered to address a number of issues with the existing training programme, e.g.
the training is quite lengthy and providers have been finding it difficult to release staff.
A new eLearning module has been developed with the Learning and Development
Team so that some of the training can be delivered in this way. The module is
currently being reviewed and formally approved, with the aim of launching it in May
2018. Further modules will be considered in the future.
32. LLR redesigned falls pathway –the redesigned pathway uses a specialist therapist
to first triage suitable patients to a specialist therapy service, other patients would be
onward referred to consultant falls clinics. As a result, waiting times have fallen from
an average 42 weeks from referral to treatment, (if a falls treatment service
intervention is appropriate) to two weeks; if a referral to the consultant falls clinic is
appropriate patients are waiting on average 11 weeks compared to 24 weeks
previously. In addition, East Midlands Academic Health Science Network programme
of falls prevention activities is expected to go live across LLR in August 2018. The
programme will raise awareness, identify those at risk of future falls, provide
information and through a screening tool direct those most at risk of future falls to
suitable services.
BCF PLANNING FOR 2018/19
33. The BCF Plan for 2017-19 was submitted to NHS England on 8th September 2017, in
line with the national BCF timetable.
34. NHS England has confirmed that national BCF technical guidance for 2018/19 will be
published soon. They have previously reported that the BCF outcome metrics will
need to be updated but the narrative and expenditure plans do not have to be resubmitted.
35. The main focus will be on setting a new DTOC target for 2018/19. It is anticipated
NHS England will be looking to set a more ambitious national target than in 2017/18.
There will also be an opportunity, although not a mandatory requirement, to review
the other BCF outcome metrics and decide whether these should be updated.
36. At the time of writing this report, the BCF guidance has not been published. An
update will be provided at the meeting if this position has changed.
Recommendation
37. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the contents of the report.

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure

118

None.

Officer to Contact
Cheryl Davenport
Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment)
0116 305 4212
Cheryl.Davenport@leics.gov.uk
Appendix
Better Care Fund Metrics as at March 2018
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
38. The BCF aims to improve outcomes and wellbeing for the people of Leicestershire,
with effective protection of social care and integrated activity to reduce emergency
and urgent health demand.
39. An equalities and human rights impact assessment has been undertaken which is
provided at
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/11/better-care-fund-overview-ehria.pdf.

This finds that the BCF will have a neutral impact on equalities and human rights.
40. A review of the assessment was undertaken in March 2017.
Partnership Working and associated issues
41. The delivery of the BCF plan and the governance of the associated pooled budget is
managed in partnership through the collaboration of commissioners and providers in
Leicestershire.
42. Day to day oversight of delivery is via the Integration Executive through the scheme
of delegation agreed via the Integration Executive’s terms of reference which have
been approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board.
43. The delivery of the Leicestershire BCF ensures that a number of key integrated
services are in place and contributing to the system wide changes being
implemented through the five year plan to transform health and care in
Leicestershire, known as the Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/

Appendix – Better Care Fund Metrics as at March 2018
Metric
METRIC 1: Permanent admissions of
older people (aged 65 and over) to
residential and nursing care homes, per
100,000 population, per year
METRIC 2: Proportion of older people
(65 and over) who were still at home 91
days after discharge from hospital into
reablement / rehabilitation services

METRIC 3: Delayed transfers of care
from hospital per 100,000 population

630.6

87.0%

210.7

Latest
Data

57.39

n/a

n/a

RAGed
data

659.7

86.1%

221.40

Data
RAG

Trend

Aim / Polarity

A

Good performance is
represented by a fall in the
figures

A

Good performance is
represented by a rise in the
figures

A

Good performance is
represented by a fall in the
figures

DOT

Commentary



The RAGed data shows the March forecast for 2017/18, based on CPLIs. The BCF
target for 17/18 is a maximum of 879 admissions. The current full year forecast is
920 admissions (or 659.7 per 100,000 population). Performance is RAG-rated
amber and is statistically similar to the target with a lower confidence interval of
617.76 and a upper confidence interval of 703.77



For hospital discharges between Oct and Dec-17, 86.1% of people discharged from
hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services were still at home after 91 days.
This is just below the 17/18 target of 87. Performance is RAG-rated amber and is
statistically similar to the target with a lower confidence interval of 83.0 and a
upper confidence interval of 88.7.



In March there were 1,218 days delayed, a rate of 221.40 per 100,000 population
against a target of 210.70. This is RAGed as amber and is statistically similar to the
target, with a lower confidence interval of 209.14 and upper confidence interval of
234.19. From July NHS England targets apply for the overall rate, and the different
attributable organisations (NHS, social care, and jointly attributable). 85.7% of
these delays were attributable to the NHS, 5.2% attributable to Social Care and
9.1% Jointly attributable.
For the period Apr-17 to Mar-18 there have been 67,068 non-elective admissions,
against a target of 60,582 - a variance of 6,486. This is RAG-rated as red.

737.92 816.92

895.88

R

Good performance is
represented by a fall in the
figures



The monthly RAG rating is red and performance of 895.88 is statistically
significantly worse than the target of 737.92, with a lower confidence interval of
873.65 and an upper confidence interval of 918.53.

119

METRIC 4: Total non-elective
admissions into hospital (general and
acute), per 100,000 population, per
month

Target

This page is intentionally left blank

121

Agenda Item 12

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 24 MAY 2018
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES,
LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND
TRANSFORMING CARE PLAN
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Board on the assurance of the delivery of
the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) Transforming Care Plan (TCP) for
adults with a learning disability and or autism who have behaviours that challenge.

Link to the local Health and Care System
2.

The LLR TCP is designed to assist all the local partners in assessing their progress
on the implementation of the TCP and an assurance that they are on target to deliver
the trajectory by the end of the programme in March 2019. The LLR TCP is a work
stream of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP).

Recommendation
3.

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the update on the LLR TCP and
agree to receive a further update as requested.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
4.

In October 2015, NHS England, the Association of Directors of Adult Social Care
(ADASS) and the Local Government Association (LGA) published a Transforming
Care National Implementation Plan and associated service model ‘Building the Right
Support’.

5.

The national plan described the expectation of the development of Transforming
Care Partnerships that should consist of Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs),
NHS England‘s Specialist Commissioners and Local Authorities. Leicestershire was
aligned as a TCP with Leicester City and Rutland.

6.

The plan outlined three key expectations from local commissioners; implementing
enhanced community provision, reducing inpatient capacity and rolling out Care and
Treatment reviews in line with the published policy. The LLR Transforming Care
Partnership was formally agreed in December 2015.

122
Background
7.

In May 2011, a BBC Panorama programme highlighted both physical and mental
abuse taking place at Winterbourne View Hospital that was privately run by
Castlebeck Ltd in South Gloucestershire. The Department of Health carried out a full
review into what happened at Winterbourne View Hospital along with a wider review
of over 150 hospitals and care homes that provided services for people with learning
disabilities. The review indicated that failings were widespread within the operating
organisation (Castlebeck) but importantly also across the wider care system.

8.

The Department of Health published Transforming Care, a National Response to
Winterbourne View Hospital and the Concordat: Programme of Action in December
2012. The Concordat and 63 actions detailed within the review seek to address poor
and inappropriate care for people with a learning disability and/or autism, who may
also have mental health needs or behaviour that challenges.

The LLR TCP Current Inpatient Position
9.

As of 8 May 2018 there were 26 CCG inpatients in hospital (27 as at the 28 February
2018); nine in the local assessment and treatment unit (the Agnes Unit) of which
seven have a transition plan, three in the local adult mental health unit (the Bradgate
Unit) and 14 in out of area Alternative Hospital placements.

10. As of 8 May 2018 there were 22 NHS England Specialist Commissioning inpatients
(20 as at the 28 February 2018); five in Medium Secure Units, 11 in Low Secure
Units, two in a Non-Secure unit and four young people in Child and Adolescent
Mental Health Service (CAMHS) units.
11. In line with the LLR TCP target, the closure of two beds in the Agnes Unit took place
in October 2016 with a further two beds closing in March 2017. The current contract
with Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) is for 12 beds in the Agnes Unit. The
TCP ambition for March 2019 when the Programme ends is there will be less than 12
CCG commissioned patients in the Agnes Unit. This number includes the planned
transition of the 14 people currently in out of area hospitals that will be re-provisioned
back to the County. The trajectory for Specialist Commissioned patients by March
2019 is 21, which is one less than the current number of inpatients in Specialist
Units.
12. The LLR TCP has a designated Discharge Co-ordinator who works alongside health
and social care colleagues to support discharge planning processes and to
proactively identify future community placement accommodation requirements.
The LLR TCP Risk Status and Recovery Plan
13. As of January 2018, the LLR TCP was placed into Red Risk Status by NHS England
for the second time due to the LLR TCP having 10 patients over the agreed CCG
figures; 33 instead of the predicted 23, which included a significant number in out of
area placements. However the LLR TCP status has now been reduced down to
Amber.
14. A Recovery Plan has been developed that includes detailed research and analysis
over the last six months in order to identify and address the current challenges and

123
issues. Three work streams have established; admission and prevention, service
redesign and multi-disciplinary working and accommodation, all led by health and
social care senior managers committed to improving the delivery of the TCP plan.
15. Progress to date has included a review of the At Risk of Admission Register, in-depth
analysis of recent admissions and Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOCs), those
patients medically fit for discharge but unable to leave hospital due to insufficient
community support being available), a joint health and social care agreed revision of
the Care, Education and Treatment Review policy (both within the community and inpatient settings). Further work is being developed to improve multi-disciplinary
approaches.
Admission and Prevention Work Stream
16.

The Admission and Prevention Work Stream delivery plan details how the TCP will
work to:






reduce the number of Out of Area inpatients;
develop effective admission and prevention procedures and processes;
develop an effective discharge for those patients who are in hospital;
ensure appropriate crisis response is in place;
ensure that there is appropriate access to mainstream services and activities in
order to remain safe and well in the community.

Risk of Admission Register
17. From April 2015, CCGs were tasked with holding a register of anyone at risk of
admission to hospital due to their learning disability and/or autism. This is not a
register of people at risk e.g. safeguarding, abuse or exploitation.
18. As at January 2018 there were over 200 people identified as ‘at risk’ on the register
and as such was no longer considered to be a ‘live management tool’. The register
was reviewed and those deemed not to be at immediate risk of admission were
removed. Changes were also made to the operating process of the register and as
of 8 May 2018 there are five people on the register; three from the Learning Disability
Outreach Team and two from CAMHS Crisis Team. This has enabled the register to
be used more proactively in order to help prevent and reduce admissions. If people
go back into crisis they can be referred again to the register.
19. Going forward, any new referrals to the register will only be accepted for those
people who are at immediate risk of admission and where there is active involvement
from health services. The rationale here is that if a person is at immediate risk of
admission then health services should already be involved and assess the
individual’s risks and be providing support prior to any Community Care, Education
and Treatment Review (CETR) or Local Area Emergency Protocol (LAEP, formerly
known as a Blue Light Meeting) being instigated.
20. CETR’s will now adopt a proactive approach to both the monitoring and any required
intervention around the care and treatment a person is receiving. They must
facilitate joint working (health, social care and education), identify any new service
gaps for commissioners and enable partnership working to both review resources
and design services.

124
Local Area Emergency Protocol (formerly ‘Blue Light’ Meetings)
21. In circumstances where an admission is unplanned, urgent or someone is in ‘crisis’ it
is recognised that a CETR may be, on a practical level, very difficult to set up due to
short timescales, the level of risk and the need for urgent action. A LA EP has been
developed and signed off by all TCP partners. It is intended to help identify barriers
to supporting the individual to remain in the community and to make clear and
constructive recommendations as to how these barriers could be overcome by
working together and using resources creatively.
22. The LAEP will consider and agree a contingency plan if the initial plan formulated to
support the person does not work. This contingency is particularly important for the
management of the person at weekends and in out of hours periods and considers
what options and providers are available should an admission be required.
23. The TCP revised both the CETR and LAEP processes in April 2018 and this places
greater responsibility on Multi-Disciplinary Teams (MDTs) to manage risks within the
community.
Service Re-design Work Stream
24. The Service Re-design Work Stream was set up to develop a high level model for
delivering the required outcomes for the Transforming Care cohort across the county.
The remit of the work stream is to:





map existing pathways and services to identify gaps;
recommend and develop a revised service offer for adults;
focus on the development of MDT working across all key partners;
develop a clear understanding of the role of the Outreach Team and its link to
MDT.

25. The work stream has assured commitment across MDTs to attend both Care
Programme Approach and CETRs as part of the discharge planning process, thus
ensuring that those in crisis or are due to be repatriated from out of county
placements are clearly identified and their care and support needs are known. This
should assist in preventing admissions, improve discharge planning and reduce
delayed discharges.
Learning Disability Outreach Service
26. The Learning Disability Outreach Service has been greatly expanded to provide
intensive support in the community for people and the team now works seven days a
week, (excluding Bank Holidays) from 8.00am–21.00pm. The team undertakes up to
1,900 contacts per year with a client group that poses significant challenges. Further
work is now being undertaken to understand where admissions to hospital are
coming from and at what time and the effectiveness of the outreach team in
preventing admissions.
Enhanced Community Support Services
27. There is further work being developed to enhance the community support for people
who are potentially at risk of an admission. This includes post-diagnostic autism

125
support for people who have autism but not a learning disability, community forensic
services; step up crisis accommodation and enhanced community crisis support for
up to 72 hours.
Accommodation Work Stream
28. A new TCP Accommodation Strategy has been signed off and delivery plans are in
development. The strategy details the accommodation requirements across
Leicestershire in order to facilitate transfers from hospital settings to community
based dwellings. In Leicestershire, four new supported living units suitable for TCP
individuals will be available in June 2018 to support further discharge from both in
county and out of county placements.
Positive Behaviour Support Training
29. Residential and Supported Living Providers who are supporting people who may be
at risk of admission are being offered Positive Behaviour Support (PBS) training to
increase their understanding of how to support people displaying challenging
behaviour which may escalate into a hospital admission.
Keeping People Safe
30. The TCP and all partners work to keep people who challenge safe through
supporting them to take positive risks whilst ensuring that they are protected from
potential harm, remembering that abuse and neglect can take place in a range of
different environments and settings. There will be a culture of transparent and open
reporting, ensuring lessons are learned and acted upon. Mandatory Safeguarding
Adults training has been delivered to all adult social care staff. Any individual at risk
of harm or abuse should be involved, wherever possible, in decisions about how they
keep themselves safe in line with Making Safeguarding Personal.
Challenges for the final 10 months
31. The major challenge for the LLR TCP over the final 10 months of the programme will
be in meeting the region’s NHS England trajectory for the number of people that are
receiving treatment in an inpatient setting as outlined in paragraph 11 of the report.
To date, the TCP has been in a Red Risk Status both in January 2017 and January
2018 with NHS England; currently this risk has been downgraded to Amber due to
the number of people still in hospital being higher than the TCP trajectory.
32. The National Transforming Care Programme has offered support to the LLR TCP in
order to progress their plans for individuals in hospital. A draft action plan has been
developed and agreed that includes:





support to improve MDT working;
scoping of accommodation and support needs;
develop stronger levels of confidence and expertise for our community providers
to manage people with more complex needs;
scoping the Ministry of Justice requirements to assist with discharges and
reduce the use of locked rehab placements.

126
33. Nationally funded consultants have been identified and will begin this work in June
2018.
34. There are currently 14 people in Alternative Placement Hospitals who require careful
and planned repatriation to the community. The ambition for discharges from
Specialist Commissioned beds into the community across the LLR TCP has also
increased above the original projections, leading to more complex discharge planning
and demands on community resources, particularly in relation to children.
35. There are four LLR Transforming Care patients (three of which are Leicestershire
people) who are in hospital under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Justice (MOJ) and
plans for their discharge are out of our control. Further work needs to be undertaken
to secure suitable, safe community packages of care and support in order for the
MOJ to consider the discharge of this cohort.
36. Leicestershire County Council currently acts as Lead Commissioner for the Social
and Health Care needs for people with Learning Disabilities across Leicestershire,
including the Transforming Care cohort of people. Further agreement needs to be
reached by all partners on the way forward for this Joint Commissioning as the
current arrangements will cease in September 2018.
37. It is envisaged that the work that has already been undertaken within the LLR TCP
will continue following the end of the Transforming Care Programme in March 2019
and will be further integrated into the Leicestershire Learning Disability approach;
meaning that the service model for this cohort of people will be right for everyone.
Resource Implications
38. When the Transforming Care Programme commenced measures were put into place
by NHS England for Funding Transfer Agreements (FTAs) to be paid to the relevant
CCGs when a patient was discharged from a Specialist Commissioned bed and the
bed was subsequently closed. This funding was intended to be used to fund both the
continuing health and social care costs of the patient in the community. To date
there have only been two FTAs paid to the LLR TCP both for City Council patients.
NHS England are no longer administering FTAs and consequently, as beds are
closed and patients moved closer to home or back into the community the money is
no longer following the patient, leaving the CCG and Local Authority to fund the often
significant community care packages.
39. Leicestershire County Council was successful in bidding for capital funding from NHS
England in 2017 to redevelop two sites to provide community based accommodation
for transforming care patients. However the restrictive grant conditions from NHS
England were such that the Local Authority could not accept the funding allocation.
The Council agreed, however, to progress one of these developments utilising
existing local authority capital. Subsequently the Council and the CCGs have agreed
to allocate Better Care Fund (BCF) funding to cover this expenditure.
40. During 2017/18 there were five patients discharged from inpatient settings with an
estimated annual cost of £250,000 for the Local Authority for care and support in the
community. The remainder of the costs are being met by the relevant CCG.

127
41. The role of the Lead Commissioning Manager, Working Age Adults continues to be
part joint funded by the East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG and as such is the
officer tasked with overseeing this work.
42. Leicestershire County Council has used Improved BCF to employ a full time
equivalent senior social worker post. The remit of this post is to work solely with the
most complex Transforming Care individuals. This has significantly improved the
interface between health and social care.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None.
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
43. The Transforming Care Programme targets all people – children and adults with a
learning disability and/or autism, including those not eligible for social care or
continuing healthcare support.
Partnership Working and associated issues
44. The Learning Disability Better Care Together work stream has been realigned as the
LLR TCP and is the Learning Disability work stream within the STP.
Risk Assessment
45. The LLR TCP focus continues to be on making sure there is the right support for
people to be discharged from inpatient hospital care at the right time and also helping
people who are at risk of being admitted.
Officer to Contact
Jane Robins, Lead Commissioning Manager, Working Age Adults
Adults and Communities Department
Leicestershire County Council
Telephone:
0116 3057096
Email:
jane.robins@leics.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

129

Agenda Item 13

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
24 MAY 2018
REPORT OF VOLUNTARY ACTION LEICESTERSHIRE:
HEALTHWATCH LEICESTERSHIRE
ANNUAL REVIEW 2017 -18
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to present Healthwatch Leicestershire’s Annual Report
2017-18 to the Health and Wellbeing Board. This is the final report by Voluntary Action
Leicestershire (VAL) as the contract holder for five years spanning the period 20132018.
Recommendation
2. It is recommended that Healthwatch Leicestershire’s Annual Review 2017 -18 be noted.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
3. The County Council, following the Health and Social Care Act 2012, is required to
directly commission a local Healthwatch. The local Healthwatch in turn has a set of
statutory activities to undertake, such as gathering local views and making these
known to providers and commissioners, monitoring and scrutinising the quality of
provision of local services and a seat on the Health and Wellbeing Board.
4. Under VAL, Healthwatch Leicestershire (HWL) became a trusted and respected member
of the Health and Wellbeing Board and participating observer at the Health Overview
and Scrutiny Committee where it has been able to present evidence-based insights and
findings reflecting patients and the public views of health and social care services.
Background
5. The purpose of HWL is to promote improvements in local health and social care
services – improving outcomes for local people in Leicestershire. HWL believes that the
best way to do this is by designing local services around the needs and experiences of
local people.
6. The Annual Report contains details on the statutory activities undertaken over the last
year and demonstrates the impact that these activities have made on the
commissioning, provision and management of local health and social care services. VAL
also provides Healthwatch England with the intelligence and insight it needs to enable
it to perform effectively. VAL has complied with Healthwatch England guidance by
using the Healthwatch trademark and reporting on its statutory requirements including
meeting the 30 June 2018 submission date.

130
7. The full Healthwatch Leicestershire Annual Report 2017-18 is available at the short link
https://goo.gl/apQni1 and for ease of reference a copy of the report is also included
as appendix 1.
Patient and Public Involvement
8. As HWL, VAL’s role was to ensure that local health and social care services, and the
local decision makers, put the experiences of people at the heart of their care.
9. In the past year 2017 -18, HWL was in contact with individuals and communities across
different events and activities of Leicestershire. HWL Board members have represented
local voices at health and social care meetings and committees such as the County
Council’s Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Clinical
Commissioning Groups across Leicestershire and NHS Trust Boards for local hospitals
and mental health by being a critical friend and speaking ‘truth to power’ ensuring
that local voices are heard at key decision making and commissioning bodies.
10. A key focus for HWL’s work is capturing evidence and insights from patients and the
public and these are in reports and publications, which have been well received by
stakeholders and Healthwatch England. The Commissioners have also commented
positively on the production of these reports for their readability, accessibility and
quality of the findings.
11. Throughout the year HWL have produced 6 Healthwatch Leicestershire reports
including the Annual Report but excluding Enter & View reports. Each of these reports
gives an insight into the patient perspective of the particular service being scrutinising.
All reports are based on evidence and include recommendations for improving the
service. Here is a list all the reports published this year.







Annual Review 2017-18: This report highlights activities over the last year and
demonstrates their impact.
Patients experience of Fibromyalgia: This report captures peoples experience
of living with Fibromyalgia and highlights ways to improve local services.
Check-in @ the new Emergency Department: This survey was designed to allow
local patients to share their opinions and experiences of using services at the
new £48-million-pound emergency department.
Your views about GP services: This report focuses on services offered at GP
practices such as online services, support for carers and nurse appointments.
In mum’s words: We sought the views and experiences of mothers, mothers to
be and healthcare professionals on the woman’s journey through services.
I matter: This report provides an independent insight of local patients, carers
and staff at the Bradgate Mental Health Unit.

12. Using statutory powers for Enter and View, HWL has produced 2 reports and this year
identified two areas of the county to visit the following health care providers within
those areas.



St Lukes Hospital
Lutterworth Country House Care Home

131
Finance Implications and Timetable for Decisions
13. Since the launch of Healthwatch five years ago, Healthwatch Leicestershire,
commissioned by Leicestershire County Council has delivered a high-quality service run
by Voluntary Action Leicestershire (VAL).
14. VAL’s HWL contract came to an end 31 March 2018 following re-commissioning and
Leicestershire County Council has a new Healthwatch arrangement jointly with
Leicester City for Healthwatch Leicestershire and Leicester City. The new provider is
Engaging Communities Staffordshire (ECS).
Officer to Contact
Kevan Liles - CEO Voluntary Action Leicestershire
Telephone: 0116 257 5034
Email: kevan.l@valonline.org.uk
List of Appendices
1. Healthwatch Leicestershire’s Annual Review 2017-18
2. Media Release launch of the Annual report
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
15. VAL/ HWL is aware that the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) applies to all functions
of public authorities that are listed in Schedule 19 Equality Act 2010. Schedule 19 list
does not include Healthwatch England or Local Healthwatch organisations, however as
bodies carrying out a public function using public funding we are subject to the PSED
general duty.
16. VAL/ Healthwatch Leicestershire is committed to reducing the inequalities of health
and social care outcomes experienced in some communities. We believe also that
health and social care should be based on a human rights platform. We will utilise the
Equality Act 2010 when carrying out our work and in influencing change in service
commissioning and delivery.

This page is intentionally left blank

133

Healthwatch Leicestershire
Annual Report 2017/18

134
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

Contents
3

Message from our Chair and
Director

4

Highlights from our year

5

Who we are

6

Easy Read Summary

8

Views on health and care

9

Listening to local people’s
views

12

What we’ve learnt from visiting
services

14
15

Helping you find the answers
How we have helped the
community access the care
they need

17

Making a difference together

18

5 Years of Healthwatch

20

How your experiences are
helping influence change

22

Working with other
organisations

25

How we’ve worked with our
community

28

Our people

29

Our governance and decision
making

30

How we involve the public and
volunteers

32

Our finances

Rick Moore, Chair ,Healthwatch Leicestershire
Vandna Gohil, Director, Healthwatch Leicestershire

Healthwatch Leicestershire is the
independent consumer champion
created to gather and represent the
views of patients and the public of
Leicestershire.
Once again, we are pleased that so many
people have spoken to us about their
experiences of care. We have listened to
patients, service users, carers and staff,
allowing us to feedback a very rounded
view of many health and social care
services. It is only when people speak
out, that we as Healthwatch can speak
up on their behalf, enabling us to achieve
improvements that will benefit the public
of Leicestershire.

“As a CCG chair, I have really valued the work
of Healthwatch and the effective partnership
that we have forged. I have admired their
rigorous approach to measuring patient
feedback and the quality of their reports is
very high. The feedback has been useful to
providers in improving services. Another area
of success has been their contribution to the
governing body of WLCCG.”
Professor Mayur Lakhani, Chair of West
Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

2

135
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Message from our Chair
and Director
Since the launch of Healthwatch five years ago,
Healthwatch Leicestershire, commissioned by
Leicestershire County Council has delivered a highquality service run by Voluntary Action Leicestershire
(VAL).

Our Board members have continued to present
evidence based reports by representing the public
at key decision making Boards, contributing to
meetings such as:
n Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

From 1 April 2018, there is a new Healthwatch
arrangement for Leicestershire and Leicester City and
a new provider, Engaging Communities Staffordshire
(ECS), is picking up the reins when the contract held
by VAL comes to an end.

n Adults and Communities Overview and
Scrutiny Committee

This Annual Report highlights the impacts the work
of Healthwatch Leicestershire has had at a local
and National level and covers issues around urgent
and emergency services, mental health, hospital
discharge, Fibromyalgia, GP services and much more.
At a national level, Healthwatch Leicestershire
contributed to research released by Healthwatch
England (see page 22) that outlines where important
steps have been made towards improving the
hospital discharge process for patients. At a local level,
this led to Healthwatch Leicestershire being part of
multiple training seminars to healthcare professionals
including consultants and senior nurses, to improve
the discharge of patients from hospital settings.
Shinning a light on Fibromyalgia (see page 24),
Healthwatch Leicestershire spoke to almost 1,000
people to highlight the issues people face living
with this long-term condition that causes pain all
over the body. In partnership with The Shuttlewood
Clarke Foundation and the University Hospitals of
Leicester NHS Trust, a Top Ten Tips poster for living
with Fibromyalgia was sent to all GP Practices across
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland as resource for
GPs.
Our dedicated staff team have worked
conscientiously to develop, produce and deliver a
high a standard of patient feedback culminating
in positive feedback from stakeholders to welldesigned and easily accessible reports and findings
to influence policy change.

n Clinical Commissioning Groups across
Leicestershire and Rutland
n Trust Boards across Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland
Our representation on the Health and Wellbeing
Board provides a platform for sharing formal
patient, user and public insights, evidence and
intelligence to inform the process of strategic
commissioning and improve services for the
benefit of the local population. We have been
an integral part of the meetings by successfully
contributing insightful evidence-based patient
feedback reports at each meeting.
In this report, we have highlighted our work over
the past 5 years and have included a summary on
the centre pages.
We would like to take this opportunity to extend
our gratitude to all the stakeholders that worked
with us to give local residents a voice in shaping
and influencing the local health and social care
economy. We would like to thank our volunteers
who have showed great professionalism,
knowledge and commitment to improving the
delivery and commissioning of services. Lastly,
we would like to thank the residents of the county
for embracing Healthwatch Leicestershire and
helping us to speak ‘truth to power’ ensuring that
‘your voice counts’.
Rick Moore
Chair, Healthwatch Leicestershire
Vandna Gohil
Director, Healthwatch Leicestershire

3

136
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

Highlights from 2017-18
The year at a glance
This year we
have reached

We’ve been on the
radio times
and conducted

6

3964

members,
subscribers and
twitter followers

4

Our signposting
and information
service has
helped
individuals

We’ve
undertook
Enter and View
visits to local
health and care
services

We published

We’ve met

TV Interviews

2

90

5 insight

reports on
issues ranging
from mental
health,
maternity and GP Services

944 local

people through
our activities
at local
community
events

Calendar of the year
Q1 April/May/June

Q2 July/Aug/Sept

Q3 Oct/Nov/Dec

Q4 Jan/Feb/Mar

Observational Visit to
the new Emergency
Department

Survey – Services
within GPs

Survey of mothers,
mothers to be and
healthcare professionals

Enter & View – St. Luke’s
Hospital

Presenting
at University
Hospitals of
Leicester NHS Trust
Carers Assessment Business
Discharge Training
Case for Leicestershire
Seminar
County Council
Survey of those suffering
from Fibromyalgia

4

Hosting a Healthwatch
England Committee
meeting

Presenting at University
Engagement of Bradgate Hospitals of Leicester
Mental Health Unit
NHS Trust
service users
Discharge Training
Enter & View Seminar
Lutterworth Country
House Care Home

137
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Who we are
We exist to make health and social
care services work for the people who
use them.
Everything we say and do is informed
by our connections to local people.
Our sole focus is on understanding
the needs, experiences and concerns
of people of all ages who use services
and to speak out on their behalf.
We are uniquely placed as a national
network, with a local Healthwatch in
every local authority area in England.
Our role is to ensure that local decision
makers and health and social care
services put the experiences of people
at the heart of their work.

94

We believe that asking people more
about their experiences can identify
issues that, if addressed, will make
services better.

Our Vision
Higher quality and more accessible health
and social care services in Leicestershire
through public involvement.

Our Mission and
Objective
To be an independent, influential consumer
champion of health and social care services in
Leicestershire, ensuring that consumer rights
and responsibilities in health and social care
are understood and delivered. We achieve this
by:
Understanding what matters most to
consumers, especially those most vulnerable,
by always starting with their needs and rights.
Developing evidence-based local insights
to share with, local decision makers, partners,
and Healthwatch England to inform a national
picture.
Influencing those who have the power to
change design and delivery of services so they
better meet the needs and rights of users.

5

138
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

Easy Read Summary
Healthwatch Leicestershire exists to help the public get the best out
of their local health and social care services. We do this by:
n

Listening to local people and health and social care providers

n

Providing information to help people find local services to meet their needs

n

Seeking peoples views and experiences of local services

n

Influencing the people that make the decision and in charge of appointing
and running and service

n

Challenging and examining existing service providers

In 2017 – 2018 we
were in contact
with 944
individuals
across different
activities and
events

This year we
have reached
3964
members,
subscribers
and twitter
followers

Our information
and advice
service listened
to 90 people
about their
experiences
of health and
social care

The issues and concerns that people spoke to us about informs
our work this includes questions for the quarterly meetings with
Chief Executives of University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) and
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust. We have created a new
section on our website where health leaders provide answers to
issues and themes raised by patient questions.
Our board members have represented local peoples voices at
different health and social care meetings. Their time, effort and
enthusiasm has helped make a difference and influence change
for the better.

6

We currently have over have 40 volunteers helping us with
our Enter & View Visits. The aim of the visits is to observe how
health and social care service are being run and talk to patients,
carers as well as members of staff. This year we have published
2 Enter and View reports.

139
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Our report ‘Your Views on GP Services’ details the results of our
survey of patients and carers. We heard from 240 from across
Leicestershire and Leicester.
Many people told us that they have trouble getting a GP
appointment and that they have tried to use online services.
The majority of people were satisfied with the overall service
they receive at their GP.
The ‘In Mum’s Words Report details the findings from our
survey of mothers, mothers to be and healthcare staff. We
listened to 136 local people experience of using a health
services that supported them while they were pregnant or a
new mum. We also heard from 54 staff, mostly Public Health
Nurses and Midwifes.
The most common theme to emerge from the findings was
that mothers said it was important to see the same midwife
and staff said that they should share information between
them better.
In October 2017, we continued to promote the effects
of Fibromyalgia by sending all GP’s across Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland, a copy of our ‘Top Ten Tips’ for
people suffering from Fibromyalgia. GP’s would then be better
informed and able to help people with this condition.

Our annual report shows how we are structured, where we focus
our resources and how we are bringing the voice and influence
of Leicestershire people to the development and delivery of
services, on a local level and as part of the bigger Healthwatch
network.

7

140
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

Your views on
health and care
8

141
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Views on health and care
Listening to local people’s views
Your views about GP Services
During the months of August and September 2017,
we promoted a quick poll survey with questions
around GP services, such as online services for
registered patients, referrals for support and
treatment and support for Carers. We wanted to
understand the patient perspective regarding
being seen by a Nurse instead of a GP and the
support available for Carers in GP practices.

We heard from

240
local people

We heard from 240 local people and the findings
were released in a report alongside a media
release that was shared with stakeholders across
Leicestershire.

What have we learnt about online
GP services?

What have we learnt about
support for Carers?

The majority of the respondents reported that
they were aware that their GP practice offers an
online booking service for registered patients and
most of them had used the service to book an
appointment or order a repeat prescription. Most
of the respondents found the process easy and
straightforward, however some experienced login
failure and at times the website would not work
properly. All but a small minority of respondents
said they would not mind seeing a Specialist Nurse
instead of a GP.

A fifth of respondents identified themselves as a
Carer and just over half of those respondents said
they have made their GP aware of their caring role.
The remainder, however, had not notified their GP.

What have we learnt about GP
referrals?

Satisfaction

A small minority of respondents said they had
been referred to a voluntary or community
organisation such as a mental health support
group, a day centre or a walking group by
their GP in order to get support. In comparison
however, over half of the respondents said they
had been referred to services such as podiatry or
physiotherapy by their GP. Of those who had been
referred, most of them said their referral went to
plan. However, many respondents reported that
the wait for treatment was very long.

Less than half of the Carers said they had been
able to access useful information about support
for Carers from their GP, the majority said they
had not had any support. A very small minority of
Carers said that they were accessing support for
being a Carer. The majority were not.

The majority, 134 respondents, said that they were
very or extremely satisfied with their surgery. 42
respondents said that they were not at all satisfied
or slightly satisfied. Nearly a quarter said that they
were moderately satisfied with their GP surgery.
Our findings were presented to the Leicestershire
Health and Wellbeing Board who noted the
findings to urge health and social care partners
to consider actions associated to the report
recommendations to improve services, systems
and processes.
9

142
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

In Mum’s Words - A look at
maternity services
At a National level, conversations have taken
place regarding the review and improvement of
the maternity system and how this affects local
systems and subsequently mothers and families.
Our report ‘In Mum’s
Words’ shares the
findings from the data
and responses gathered
from two separate
surveys with mothers,
mothers-to-be and
healthcare professionals,
mainly midwives and
public health nurses.
In July, we ran a focus
group and met with new mothers, second-time
mothers and those that were expecting a child
in the coming months. We asked the group
what mattered most to them concerning their
health and social care during pregnancy and the
subsequent couple of years.
From the feedback gathered and desktop research,
we decided to ask people about their:
n Antenatal experiences
n Birth experiences
n Neonatal experiences

What we found
The report found that over three quarters of mums
stayed in hospital overnight after giving birth, with
two thirds of those saying that their partners were
not given the option to stay with them.
n Mums told us about the vulnerability they
experienced in the immediate hours after giving
birth. They expressed a feeling of abandonment,
especially those mums who were not allowed
to have their partners stay with them. Just over
half of mums said that they could have been
better supported emotionally.
10

n We found that over a third of mothers and
mothers to be (38%) told us that they did not
have a birth plan. A further third (33%) told
us that their plan was not followed, with just
under a third (29%) saying that their birth plan
was followed.
n Mothers and mothers-to-be told us that the
relationship between them and their midwife
is important, allowing for advice, support
and information to be shared by a trusted
professional. It matters to them that the same
midwife that visits them at home is the one
they see throughout their pregnancy and that
a strong relationship is established to provide
comfort and reassurance to mums.
n Nearly all mothers and mothers to be (90%)
would like their maternity notes to be shared
with their Midwife, Public Health Nurses and
their GP. We were told that this would help
with their holistic care.
n Healthcare professionals thought there
should be greater or more effective sharing
of information, with over three quarters
of healthcare professionals saying there
‘definitely or very much so’ could be better
information sharing between Public Health
Nurses and Midwives.
The issue of improvements for maternity services
is a national one. Earlier this year, the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) launched a national campaign
called #Yourbirthplan, aimed at raising awareness
of birth plans amongst women who are pregnant,
planning to have a baby or have recently used
maternity services in England.
Rick Moore, Chair of Healthwatch
Leicestershire, said:
“The agenda item in all strategic conversations
has to be ‘a joined-up approach’. That is the
direction of the healthcare system on a whole and
maternity services in Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland are no different. We must make sure that
at a local level, we are working smarter together
and that our local Trusts are doing everything they
can to support mothers and their families”.

143
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Elaine Broughton, Head of Midwifery at
Leicester’s Hospitals said:
“We will combine the findings of the report
with the results of the CQC national maternity
survey and consider how we can address
the recommendations to improve the birth
experience for the women and their families.”
A statement from Leicestershire Partnership
NHS Trust said:
“We welcome any opportunity to explore
the experiences of families and health
professionals within our 0-19 public health
programme, Healthy Together. We have just
completed a period of mobilisation for this
new service across Leicester, Leicestershire
and Rutland, based on co-design with local
families. The voice of families and their
experience remains central to our ethos.
We are committed to working closely with
our midwifery colleagues at UHL to ensure
there is seamless support for the health of
new and expectant mothers. We are proud of
the public health role our teams play, and with
the recent introduction of our new Health
for Under 5s website1 and Chathealth secure
messaging for parents, the accessibility of
our service has been further strengthened.
We look forward to discussing learnings
from Healthwatch’s report with our staff, with
midwifery colleagues and with Healthwatch
to ensure we all provide the best possible
service for families.”
Healthwatch Leicestershire has met with
senior managers at University Hospitals
of Leicester NHS Trust and Leicestershire
Partnership NHS Trust to share the
findings in more detail and discuss the
recommendations.
In January 2018, the report was presented
to the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing
Board which includes Clinical Commissioning
Groups, NHS Trusts and Public Health, as
well as County Council Commissioners and
Directors.
1

www.healthforunder5s.co.uk

11

144
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

What we’ve learnt from visiting services
We conducted three individually focused Enter
and View visits this year:
1. a mental health unit
2. revisit to a care home
3. a community hospital
Our visits were conducted by our small team
of trained volunteers, with Healthwatch staff.
Our volunteers are prepared as ‘Authorised
Representatives’ to conduct visits to health and
social care premises to find out how they are being
run and make recommendations where there are
areas for improvements.

1. Bradgate Mental Health Unit
We have been concerned about the services
offered at Bradgate Mental Health Unit (BMHU)
following the CQC Inspection Report in February
2017, which concluded that overall the service
required improvement.2
Services at the Bradgate
Mental Health Unit
are provided by
Leicestershire Partnership
NHS Trust (LPT), which
provides mental health,
learning disability and
community health
services across Leicester,
Leicestershire and
Rutland.

We received

42

individual
responses

2

12

What we found
n Information We were told that information should be
relevant, targeted and provide the service
user, carer or parent with a sense of what the
support landscape looks like. We found that
48% of respondents were unhappy with the
quality of information provided to them at the
Unit at the point of admittance and discharge.
n Clear channels of communication In recent years, there has been a significant
amount of media attention on the BMHU as
well as a CQC inspection which indicates that
the Unit requires improvement. This has left
service users, carers and family members
sceptical of the care they may receive on
the Unit. Although a third of respondents
were happy with the professionalism of the
staff, the qualitative responses told a story of
inconsistency.
n The Involvement Centre Service users and family members responded
positively to the Involvement Centre and
the role it played in improving their mental
health and wellbeing. We believe that having
a program that engages and encourages
service users to interact socially is a step in
the right direction.
We developed a report which was presented to
LPT who said,

In October 2017, we
captured feedback
from current service
users, carers and
discharged service
users about the
support they are
receiving or had
received at the BMHU.
We received 42
individual responses
to our questionnaire.

http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RT5

“We are proud of the Involvement Centre
and exploring how we can maximise its use.
Currently we rely on the support of dedicated
volunteers and opening times reflect this.
We always welcome feedback to help us
make improvements and have begun a fiveyear programme to transform all mental
health and learning disability services across
our Trust, with a much wider programme of
engagement. This will help us deliver longterm improvements co-designed with patients,
service users, staff and other stakeholders”.

145
Healthwatch Leicestershire

2. Lutterworth Country House Care Home

3. St. Luke’s Community Hospital

We undertook an Enter & View revisit to
Lutterworth Country House Care Home in
November 2017, following our initial visit in July
2014.

In January 2018 we visited St Luke’s Hospital
as part of our programme to visit Community
Hospitals in the county.

This planned visit was
a follow up to observe
the care provided,
to see if our earlier
recommendations had
been carried out and was
also prompted by local
intelligence gathering
from members of the
public.

St Luke’s Hospital is a local community hospital
situated on the outskirts of Market Harborough
town centre. The hospital is single storey,
wheelchair friendly and has two wards. The two
wards provide specialist stroke rehabilitation on
ward 1 (18 beds) and general rehabilitation and
palliative and end of life care on ward 3 (14 beds).

Summary of findings
Enter & View Report
Lutterworth Country House Care Home
23 November 2017

We learnt that a new
provider had recently
acquired ownership of the home on the day
of the visit. During our introductory meeting
with the Manager and the Regional Operations
Director we were appraised of the transitional
arrangements and the improvement plans to
bring the home in line with the standards and
quality of other homes within the group. The
majority of these plans will take place in 2018 so as
to minimise initial disturbance. We are pleased to
note that the majority of these plans reflected the
recommendations made at our previous visit.
During our revisit we found that there have been
positive changes made since our visit in 2014
and the manager and her team with the backing
of the new owner are enthusiastic to embrace
improvements and changes that will be taking
place in 2018. We look forward to seeing the plans
being implemented.

At the time of our visit, there were areas in both
wards working well and providing good patient
care. However, our visit did highlight some aspects
relating to the management of privacy, dignity and
care not under the direct control of the staff.
n Everyone that we spoke to said that they
were well looked after.
n We noted dignity for patients was
compromised due to the layout of the large
wards and the curtain rail placements on the
ward.
n We observed that interaction between the
staff was friendly and professional.
n We saw evidence of rehabilitation activities for
patients.
n All the staff are trained in discharge planning
and patients told us that they are involved in
the discharge process.

“I am so proud and honoured to be a part
of Healthwatch Leicestershire. The staff are
amazing and very supportive and together
we do a good job caring for our community.
My personal highlight is participating in
Enter and View visits and contributing to
making a difference by being part of the
patient voice.”
Tanuja Parmar, Authorised Representative
13

146
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

Helping people
find the answers
14

147
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Helping people find the
answers
How we have helped the community to access the
care they need
Signposting
This year our Signposting and Information
Service handled 90 enquiries.
Since Quarter 1
(2017/18) there has
been a noticeable
We handled
decrease in the
number of enquiries
we have received. We
enquiries
believe this was due
to the introduction of
a voicemail message
which signposts
Leicester City residents to Healthwatch Leicester
City and Rutland residents to Healthwatch Rutland.

90

Case study 1:
Hospital waiting
times
In April 2017, Mrs M contacted
HWL as she wanted to know
how long a patient has to wait
for a cataract operation at a
community hospital. We were
told that the hospital had Mrs
M’s form since January 2017 and that she was
still waiting to hear from them.

What we did
We sent Mrs M an email with a link to the NHS
England website which provided information
about waiting times for non-urgent, urgent and
cancer referrals. We explained that waiting times
are set by NHS England and are not unique to
individual hospitals. We also explained that if she
was concerned regarding the wait and if it has
been over 18 weeks she could contact her GP
or the hospital eye clinic from where the referral
was made.

The service was open Monday to Friday, via
telephone with voicemail services 24/7. Emails
and communications through the website were
responded to within 24 hours where possible.
Top issues received through signposting were
related to health issues and concerns. This involved
individuals contacting HWL as they wanted some
help on how to make a complaint regarding NHS
services or they wanted some advice on how to
change their GP practice.

Case study 2:
Dental Enquiry
Mr S was looking for a domiciliary denture
service in Leicestershire. He explained that he
had called a list of numbers
including NHS 111 and had not
been able to find a service.

What we did
We contacted the Dental and
Optometry Midlands team to
find out if there is a domiciliary
denture service in Leicestershire that could
help Mr S. We were told that a new contract
for special dentistry in Leicestershire was due
to begin on 1 December 2017 and that there is
currently an interim measure in place. However,
they have limited capacity and also some
eligibility criteria.
We provided Mr S with the details of the two
practices providing the interim service and
also informed him that once we know who the
new service provider will be in December we
will send him the details. In December 2017,
we contacted Mr S again to provide him with
details of the new special dentistry provider.

15

148
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

Case study 3:
Referral to POhWER

Case study 4:
Dental Appointment

Miss P wanted some
advice regarding how to
make a complaint about
her GP surgery and
the treatment she has
received.

Mrs T was looking for a dentist
for an elderly man who she
cares for with early onset
dementia. She explained that
the gentleman has lost his
bottom dentures and needs
them replacing. She said she
had contacted NHS 111 and the dental access
centre but she was signposted to HWL.

Miss P told us that she requested to have
a smear test numerous times as she
has severe pain around and below her
abdominal area. She called the surgery
and spoke to a receptionist who was
not sympathetic and when asked to be
transferred to the practice manager, the
phone was put down mid-conversation.
Miss P told us that she wants to make a
complaint but she is not a confrontational
person so she does not feel comfortable
going down to the surgery to speak to the
practice manager face-to-face.

What we did
We told Miss P about POhWER Advocacy
and explained what they do. We gave her
details for how to contact POhWER but also
explained that we can make a direct referral
for her. Miss P gave us her consent to share
her information with POhWER Advocacy
and subsequently a referral was made.
We also provided her with details of her
local CCG in case she wanted to share
her experience with them, as they are
responsible for the commissioning of GP
services in her area.

16

What we did
We contacted a few dental practices in the
Hinckley area to see if they could see the
gentleman as an NHS patient and replace his
dentures. We were able to find a practice that
could see him within a week. We contacted
Mrs T and explained this to her and provided
the details of the practice. Mrs T called us
back after she had spoken to the practice to
say she was able to book an appointment for
the following week.

149
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Making a
difference together
17

150
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

5 years of Healthwatch
2014
2015
2016
Consulting Communities As a new Healthwatch, we
visited and consulted every
District in Leicestershire to ask
local people what mattered
most to them, in regards to
health and social care. This later
informed our priorities for future
working, which were: Access
to services, Co-ordination of
services, Information to services
and Voice and advocacy.

18

Building better networks We appointed a new Chair,
developed our winter and
summer tour of Leicestershire
and built strong links with
stakeholders, focusing on
access to GP services and
urgent and emergency care.
We also contributed to a
national study by Healthwatch
England.

Greater stakeholder
engagement Delivered our Community
Conversations tour and was a
partner in a stakeholder roadshow
across West Leicestershire.
Designed a pathway to support
carers to better their experiences
of supporting patients through
hospital. Negotiating a regular
agenda item to present patient
feedback at the Health and
Wellbeing Board.

151
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Reports Distributed
2014 - 2018
2014
n Enter & View: Peaker Park Care
Village, Lutterworth Country,
House Care Home
n 12 hours at A&E
n Suffering in Silence: Listening to
consumer experiences of the
health and social care complaints
system
2015
n Patients views on Quality of
Services
n A Week in Leicester Royal
Infirmary (LRI): The Patient
Perspective
n Road to Recovery: Voices from
substance misuse service users
and staff at Swanswell
n Enter & View: Glenfield Surgery,
Barrow Health Centre, The
Surgery Ashby, Wymewold Court
Care Home, Lyndhurst Lodge
Residential Home
n My Voice Counts Summer Tour
n My Voice Counts Winter Tour

t
Repor Care Home
e
& View
Enter th Country Hous
or
Lutterw

7
ber 201
23 Novem

Growing evidence base We continued a strong
programme of Enter & View
visiting services across
Leicestershire. We developed
specific projects with young
people around mental and
sexual health, with vulnerable
patients such as those affected
by Cancer diagnosis; as well as
listening to patients experience
of hospital discharge. Played a
key role in consultations and
gathering the public opinion on
changes to prescribing.

2017

Enter

St Luke & View
Repo
s Hospi
rt
tal
ary 20

18 Janu

18

Developing outcomes –
Working with local stakeholders
to deliver recommendations
from our reports and delivering
commissioned pieces of work.
Creating tools for GP’s to be
better informed about long
term conditions.
Working Nationally to help
inform wider policy changes.

2018

2016
n Listen to me
n Lost in translation
n Community Conversations
n Enter & View: Coalville
Community Hospital, Child
& Adolescent Mental Health
Service (CAMHS) Unit, Hinckley &
Bosworth Community Hospital,
Station View Health Centre,
Loughborough Urgent Care
Centre.
n Unsafe Discharge for Vulnerable
People
2017
n ‘Where should I go?’ –
Experiences of cancer patients
and their carers
n The Lived Experience of Hospital
Discharge
n It’s not in my head’ – Patient
Experiences of Fibromyalgia
n Check-in @ the new ED
n Enter & View Urgent Care Centres
2018
n I Matter: Insights on the Bradgate
Mental Health Unit
n In Mum’s Words
n Enter & View: St Luke’s Hospital,
and Lutterworth Country House
Care Home.
n GP Quick Poll

19

152
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

Making a difference together
How your experiences are helping influence change
Helping to train professionals

Impact of our report

We shared the findings from our report, ‘The
Lived Experience of Hospital Discharge’,
where we heard from 216 patients, 30 carers
and 40 healthcare professionals in last year’s
Annual Report.

n In direct response to our report, UHL
presented a report at the Health Overview
and Scrutiny Committee meeting in March
2017, outlining the actions they are taking in
response to our recommendations.
n UHL presented a report to the Health and
Wellbeing Board in June 2017 specifically
addressing the training issues raised in our
report.

216 Patients

30 Carers

40 Staff

Since then, we have
continued to work with
the University Hospitals
of Leicester NHS Trust
(UHL) to implement our
recommendations. A key
focus has been working
in partnership with UHL
to attend and present
at dedicated Discharge
Training Seminars for
Senior Nurses, Nurses,
Consultants and other healthcare professionals.
This year we have presented at three seminars:
1.

Leicester Glenfield Hospital, approximately
10 staff members in attendance.

2.

Leicester Royal Infirmary, approximately 40
staff members in attendance.

3.

Leicester Royal Infirmary, approximately 45
staff members in attendance.

As part of the presentation, interactive
discussions were included in order to convey
the lived experiences of those that have
been discharged from hospital. This included
discussions of what could be improved.
Feedback from 13 staff members that attended
the second seminar rated our presentation Good
or Excellent.
20

n Healthwatch England launched their research
‘What happens when people leave hospital
and other care settings?’ report. Our report is
featured as one of the examples highlighting
insights on local services.
n Our Chair has given 2 Radio interviews
with BBC Radio Leicester discussing the
challenges of hospital discharge.
n Our Chair has given 2 regional TV interviews
with BBC East Midlands Today discussing
the challenges of hospital discharge as well
as commenting on other challenges that our
local hospital Trust is facing.
John Adler, Chief Executive of University
Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust said:

“We welcome this report as a
very helpful insight into the
discharge process within our
hospitals from the viewpoint
of patients, carers and our
own staff. It is quite clear that
there is much that we can do
to improve the experience of
patients in this area and we are
already working hard on this.”

153
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Improving care at emergency
services
We led an observational visit supported by
Healthwatch Leicester City and Healthwatch
Rutland, spending 12 hours in the new Adults
Emergency Department at the Leicester
Royal Infirmary (LRI) on Friday 19 May 2017.
The Trust has opened a new £48 million
purpose-built Emergency Department (ED) to
the public, with the intent of making it easier for
patients to understand where they need to go
and what they can expect.

What we found
What emerges from the findings is that there have
been some significant improvements, with, on
average, at least half of respondents reporting a
“Good” experience.
n In June 2017, the findings were presented at the
internal Healthwatch quarterly meeting with
UHL including attendance from the Director of
Marketing & Communications, Deputy Chairman,
Head of Operations LRI and the General Manager
of Emergency Care.
n In July 2017, we launched the report along with a
media release that was picked up by BBC Radio
Leicester; subsequently our Chair gave a live
interview.
n In July 2017, the findings were presented at
the Leicestershire County Council Health and
Wellbeing Board. The findings of the report were
noted, and health and social care partners were
urged to consider actions to improve services,
systems and processes outlined in the findings
report.
n In July 2017, we were contacted by BBC East
Midlands for an interview outside the Emergency
Department.

Responding to our
recommendations
In September 2017, the provider released an
action plan responding to our report and
recommendations. The plan identified each
recommendation along with key messages from

the report. It also included a rag rating of where the
Trust is with achieving the action, when it will be
completed by and an update for each item.
Next steps identified and committed to by UHL:
n Continue to progress actions with the team.
n Action plan owned and regularly reviewed by
ED senior management.
n Ongoing involvement and engagement from
Healthwatch colleagues and a follow up visit
in Spring 2018, following the opening of phase
2 of the emergency floor.
The Lived Experience of Hospital Discharge report
provides an independent insight into some of the
issues of hospital discharge that remain important
to local patients, carers and staff. It was important
to capture the different perspectives of the target
groups, and so we developed three separate
questionnaires specifically targeted to each group.
The surveys were open from September to
December 2016 and we heard from 286 people (216
patients) 30 carers and 40 staff (from across three
main hospitals - Leicester Royal Infirmary, Leicester
General Hospital and the Glenfield Hospital).
Statement from University Hospitals of
Leicester NHS Trust:
“From the Trust’s perspective our relationship
with Healthwatch Leicestershire has continued
to flourish during 2017/18. We meet regularly for
frank exchanges of views which, over time, have
led to a greater understanding of one another’s
agendas and a clearer focus on what matters
most to patients. During the year Healthwatch
colleagues have spent time looking at the
way our new emergency department works
and the ‘check in’ process, which has led to
improvements in the signage and wayfinding.
They have also talked to patients and staff about
their experience of being discharged from
hospital which has made us think again about
the information we give to patients before they
leave us. Their in-depth reports sometimes
make for uncomfortable reading but that’s the
point, they see things that we miss or might
have grown accustomed to and given that their
feedback is always constructive and never shrill,
our staff respond”.
21

154
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

Working with other organisations
Playing a National Role – HWE
hospital discharge
Healthwatch England launched a briefing in
October 2017 – ‘What happens when people leave
hospital and other care settings?’. We worked with
Healthwatch England and other local Healthwatch
across the country to input into a briefing that
outlines where important steps have been made
towards improving the discharge process for
patients, and highlights the need for good practice
to be spread and to ensure it is having the right
impact.
To support the Healthwatch England National report
and to highlight the local perspective, we released a
media release in October, which also drew attention
to our report ‘The Lived Experience of Hospital
Discharge’.
Key findings from the National and Local reports
include:
n People still don’t feel involved in decisions or
that they have been given the information
they need, including advice on possible side
effects of new medications or who to call for
advice out of hours.
n People continue to experience delays and
a lack of co-ordination between services,
highlighting specific problems with hospital
pharmacy services, patient transport, and

22

care homes or family members not being
notified when people are about to be
discharged.
n People feel left without the services and
support they need after leaving hospital, with
discharge plans not considering patients’
other clinical needs or home environment,
including whether or not patients have carer
responsibilities.
Imelda Redmond, National Director of
Healthwatch England, said:
“Getting people out of hospital and safely home
is not about a single point in time. It is an ongoing
process that requires thought, planning and
support before, during and after the moment
someone is actually discharged. Things work best
when staff in all services work together to provide
a seamless experience.
“Whilst we heard plenty of positive stories from
people moving between hospitals, care homes
and their own homes, the number of people
stuck in hospital waiting to leave has increased
significantly. From what people tell us, it is
clear many of the common problems around
communication and coordination are still ongoing.
Healthwatch will continue to play our part,
working with hospitals, community services and
the public to improve people’s experiences.”

155
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Working with the Local Authority
Healthwatch Leicestershire was commissioned by
Leicestershire County Council Adult Social Care
Department (LCC ASC) to undertake a review of the
Department’s offer in respect of Carer’s assessments
as delivered by its Customer Service Centre.
The overall aim of this review that was concluded in
April 2017, was to offer LCC ASC an Outline Business
Case for the establishment and operation of a
service offer that will give the desired assessment
outcomes for carers and support the Department in
its efforts to improve its support for carers of eligible
people in Leicestershire.
Our Outline Business Case describes the results
of an appreciative inquiry on the benefits of a
new model, how it might work, the number of
assessments that can be delivered per day, the
number of staff and the skills required to deliver, and
any other system or process changes that may be
needed to implement and maintain the model.
We conducted primary and secondary research
using a mixed methods approach consisting of
desktop research and face to face interviews.
From our findings, we recommended that LCC ASC
considered the following improvements:
n The approach of dedicated staff to offer
carer support would sit comfortably with the
Customer Service Centre structure at LCC
and could be modelled on the best practice
of Nottingham County Council as a guide.
n To recognise that this approach would need
some upskilling of staff.
n That this approach should be supported
by a fit for purpose data system and online
assessment that focuses on need.
As part of a report to the Adults and
Communities Scrutiny Committee in November
2017, the Adult Social Care department stated
that our findings were included in the drafting
of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Carers Strategy 2018 – 2021, implementation of
the final Strategy will be overseen by the Carers
Delivery Group (a subgroup of the Sustainability
and Transformation Partnership’s Home First
Programme Board).

Working with the Care Quality
Commission
Local relationships with CQC central team has
improved through more contact and exchange
via the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Healthwatch bi-monthly information sharing
meetings with commissioners and Healthwatch,
where the quality of regulated Health and Social
Care Organisations are discussed.
The meetings are an opportunity for open and
transparent dealings with a focus on routinely
sharing information about the standards of care of
providers with the aim of improving the quality of
regulated services.
To ensure there are no overlaps and gaps in CQC
monitoring activities they routinely share relevant
information to achieve;
n The safety and quality of services
n Improved outcomes for people who use
services
n Safeguarding vulnerable adults
n Reduced administrative impacts on providers
We have also submitted our Enter and View
reports to inform their on-going work. We are
receiving requests for information and insights to
CQC forthcoming inspections alongside regular
inspection report bulletins.
The CQC inform us of their announced and
unannounced visits to services so that any
information we have on a service can be shared
with them for their intelligence and monitoring. This
year we received 55 requests for information from
the CQC.
All our reports and recommendations have been
shared with Healthwatch England. During the year
we have not had to escalate any issues to them.

23

156
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

Listening to seldom heard voices
Our ‘It’s not in my head’ report was published
in June 2017 and highlighted the experiences
of a particularly hidden group of people living
with Fibromyalgia in silence both locally and
nationally.
Following the publication of the report we produced
a jointly badged “Top 10 Tips for those living with
Fibromyalgia’ poster, with content provided by the
Fibromyalgia Friends Together Group (FFTG) at the
Shuttlewood Clarke Foundation.
Some of the impacts of our publications:
n We presented the findings of our report
and ‘Top 10 Tips for living with Fibromyalgia’
poster to the Health and Wellbeing Board
who agreed that the condition was poorly
understood by all, including GPs, and felt that
the ‘top ten tips’ section of the report was
very useful.
n In order to raise awareness of the condition,
University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL)
circulated the report and poster to 28,000
people, which included 12,000 professionals.
n We circulated the poster to 158 GP practices
across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
as a tool to help GPs diagnose the condition
and for patients to use for information.
In February 2018, as part of our promise, we met
with the FFTG to inform members of the group of
the work we have done to promote Fibromyalgia
and the outcomes we have achieved.

Fibromyalgia Friends Together
Fibromyalgia is a recognised illness. The main symptoms of Fibromyalgia
are widespread pain, profound fatigue, headaches, depression, increased
sensitivity, fibro fog and irritable bowel.

These are our Top 10 Tips for living with fibromyalgia.
Support Group -

Relaxation -

Join a Fibromyalgia support group such as
Fibromyalgia Friends Together, it is really
useful to talk to people who understand
what you are going through.

Stress often increases symptoms, therefore
it is important to relax as much
as you can. Learn how to relax by joining a
relaxation or mindfulness class; do whatever it takes for you to switch off, reading,
painting, knitting, music, visiting family or
friends.

Pace Yourself -

Take time to come to terms with your
diagnosis and learn to manage your
symptoms. Organise and prioritise your
workload as you won’t be able to do as
much as you used to. Be kind to yourself
and accept help from wherever possible.

Exercise -

It is better to keep moving if you can. Take
gentle exercise such as walking or swimming, or join an exercise class such as
Yoga, Tai Chi, Pilates etc.

Health Professional -

Information -

Try to find a GP that understands and recognises fibromyalgia. Keep a food and pain
diary and take it with you to all appointments. Ask for a referral to a rheumatologist, pain clinic, physiotherapist or dietitian
and be persistent

Fibromyalgia Action UK is the registered
charity for Fibromyalgia where
you can get a variety of information. Seek
support online, there are many sites
supporting Fibromyalgia. Our Facebook
group is Fibromyalgia Friends Together
Leicestershire. Use the internet as a tool
but recognise not all information is correct.

Treatment -

Fibromyalgia is different for everyone, so
it’s important to learn how it affects you.
There is no one treatment or medication
that works for all; what suits one person
will not necessarily suit another.

Benefits -

Apply for any relevant benefits as these
can make your life much easier. Keeping a
diary of symptoms will help you complete
the forms. Help is available at your local
CAB office. If you have difficulty walking
apply for a Blue badge

New Symptoms -

Do not ignore new symptoms; it is not
always fibromyalgia. If you are not sure,
see your GP.

Contact:
Complementary Therapies -

Try complementary therapies such as
Acupuncture, Reflexology or Aromatherapy.
Hyperbaric Oxygen Chamber Treatment,
available at MS therapy centres, has shown
promise in helping people with pain and
insomnia. A hot bath or shower can help to
ease aches and pains.

kathleen@shuttlewood-clarke.org
07860 639693 or 01530 244914
Shuttlewood Clarke Foundation
Ulverscroft Grange, Whitwick Road, Ulverscroft,
Leicestershire. LE67 9QB
Fibromyalgia Friends Together meet on the third
Thursday of the month at Ulverscroft Manor, Priory
Lane, Ulverscroft, Leicestershire. LE67 9PH

June 2017

Some of the impacts of the Fibromyalgia Friends
Together Group:
n Since our last visit to the FFTG, they have
increased their membership. We were
informed that some of the new members
had found out about the group from our
‘Top 10 Tips’ poster which was displayed in
their GP practice.
n Members of the group were proactive in
going to GP practices to see if the poster
was displayed, and, if not, taking laminated
copies with them to offer the practice.
We were informed that the members were very
proud of this piece of work and the difference it is
making to people’s lives.

24

157
Healthwatch Leicestershire

How we’ve worked with our community
Improving Access to Services Integrated Points of Access (IPOA)

n The Integrated Points of Access Programme
Board sets up a service user panel as a sub
group of the main Board.

We were commissioned by the Integrating
Leicestershire, Leicester & Rutland (LLR) Points
of Access Programme Board to gather service
user insight on a proposal to create a single point
of contact for adult social care & health for LLR.

Since receiving our report, the Integrated Points of
Access Programme Board has decided that further
analysis is needed before redesigning the processes
and pathways within the IPOA. This includes clarity
regarding the role of Sustainability and Transformation
Plan governance in the programme moving forwards,
to ensure the programme is seen as a key enabler to
other programmes maximising efficiencies.

The LLR Better Care Together Five-Year Plan
identified the need to consider options for the
integration of the various points of access for adult
social care & health across LLR.
The overall objective was to collect the views of
service users on the proposal and to report back to
the programme board with an interim report for a
Gateway Review in August 2017 and then with a final
report with recommendations for October 2017.
We undertook the following activities:
n Published a quick poll survey on the proposal
with a focus on quantitative feedback but
with an opportunity for qualitative comments.
n Ran a focus group on the proposal with
service users to gather their feedback.
n Carried out detailed interviews with a small
number of service users to get their views on
the current points of access for adult social
care and health.
The recommendations we presented to the
02
commissioners represent ‘what good would look
like’ in a new single contact centre. This is based on
voice and insight from the survey, focus groups and
service user testimony.

“As Chair of Healthwatch
Leicestershire and representative
on the Health and Wellbeing
Board, it has been a pleasure to
articulate the experiences of
patients and services users to a
multi-agency board at a strategic
level. This has only been possible
due to the evidence that the
Healthwatch Leicestershire
team has consistently provided
me with, enabling me to be an
effective representative”.
- Rick Moore, Chair of Healthwatch
Leicestershire

ENTRANCE

Some of the issues we discussed in our
recommendations were that:
n Service provision should be based on the
default assumption that the caller has zero
knowledge of the services they need to
access and that staff should have appropriate
training on how to engage with people.
n People wanted the first point of contact to be
a person and not automated call forwarding
and that they should not have to tell their
story multiple times to multiple people.
25

158
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

How we support our representatives on the Health and Wellbeing Board
Our representation on the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) provides a platform for sharing
formal patient, user and public insights, evidence and intelligence to inform the process of strategic
commissioning and improve services for the benefit of the local population.
We have established a strong relationship with the HWB and stakeholders have come to appreciate our
presence, our reports and our insights.
We have delivered some strong pieces of work this year, providing our representatives with a firm foundation to
raise the public and patient voice.
The following are some examples of how the HWB has helped us to raise our profile and improve
outcomes for local people living in Leicestershire. The following examples were also part of the HWB
Annual report 2017. The purpose of the HWB Annual Report is to look back at the past year (2017) for the
HWB and to reflect on the progress that has been made. We provided an update on the progress that is
being made to meet the needs of the people of Leicestershire and how their insights have contributed
to the work of Healthwatch Leicestershire and the HWB during 2017.

It’s not in my head: Patients experiences of
Fibromyalgia
We presented our survey findings, sharing experiences of people living with
Fibromyalgia. We were overwhelmed with the volume of responses and in total
950 individuals with Fibromyalgia completed the survey. 291 responses from
LLR, 605 from individuals living elsewhere in the UK.
The HWB members agreed that the condition was poorly understood by all,
including GPs, and felt that the ‘top ten tips’ section of the report was very useful.
Although the proposed media campaign around the condition was welcomed,
it was suggested that this should be more targeted, focussing on symptoms
and delivered through existing channels and services such as Local Area Coordinators and First Contact Plus.

Annual Report 2016/17
The HWB considered our Annual Report 2016-17, which reported on the
statutory activities undertaken over the last year, and demonstrated the impact
that these were having on the commissioning, provision and management of
local health and social care services.
Healthwatch Leicestershire

The Board heard that we had exceeded performance targets in the past
year, and the reports and publications produced had been well received by
stakeholders and Healthwatch England. Attention was given to the priorities and
work plan for 2017-18, which would build on the work that had been undertaken
over the past four years.

26

Annual Report 2016/17

159
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Check-in @ the new Emergency Department
We shared our report with the HWB, which presented the experiences of patients
at the new Adult’s Emergency Department at the Leicester Royal Infirmary (LRI).
A number of recommendations had arisen out of the report which were
welcomed and supported by the Board, and responded to by UHL, in the form of
an action plan, which was circulated to members of the HWB.

Your views about GP Services
The Board considered the findings of our quick poll survey asking patients
their views on GP services. The emerging findings were presented and based
on the experiences shared by respondents. We had suggested a number
of recommendations for service providers and commissioners. The CCGs
welcomed the report and acknowledged that there were issues when trying to
access a GP service.
The Board noted the findings to urge health and social care partners to
consider actions associated to the report recommendations to improve
services, systems and processes outlined in the findings report.

In Mum’s Words: A woman’s journey through
pregnancy
This report was shared with the HWB and received praises for the design,
accessibility and content of the report. HWB partners - UHL and Public Health
- committed to reviewing the messages in the report as well as discussing how
to progress the recommendations.
The governance arrangements include an overarching Healthwatch
Leicestershire Board, made up of members who are able to represent the
diverse communities of our county.
The role of the HWL Board is to help determine our strategic direction and
to ensure engagement with all segments of the local population in order to
provide a representative voice for as many residents and health and social care
service users as possible.

27

160
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18
2016-17

Healthwatch Leicestershire Board

Our People
28

161
Healthwatch Leicestershire

Our People
Our governance and decision-making
The HWL Board meets quarterly in public and
the headlines and highlights on our activities are
posted on the website. In addition, the Board hold
bi-monthly meetings as an opportunity to review
and reflect on the local health and social care
economy and relationships with key stakeholders,
identify and agree actions on ‘hot issues’ and agree
appropriate actions.
Voluntary Action Leicester (VAL) is the contract
holder and therefore employs the staff to support
the work of HWL and has the responsibility
for financial management, insurance, contract
performance and compliance. To support this
relationship there are working agreements
between VAL’s Chief Executive and HWL
Board, to ensure clear lines of responsibility and
accountability, including two VAL Trustees* as
nominated leads who are also on the HWL Board.

Board

Staff Lead

Rick Moore Chair
Mina Rodgers Frail Older People Lead
Sue Staples Enter & View Safeguarding Lead, ELRCCG Lead
Fiona Barber WLCCG Co-Lead and Adult Social Care Lead
with LCC and BCT
Christopher Faircliffe LPT and EMAS Lead
*Narendra Waghela Planned Care Lead
John Baker WLCCG Co-Lead
Pat Fraser MBE Carers and Mental Health Lead
*Evan Rees Hospital Lead

Vandna Gohil - Director
Gemma Barrow - Development Officer
Ivan Liburd - Development Officer
Yachna Desai - Information Advisor
Kenton Hall - Communications Officer
We have 40 active volunteers who are
involved in many activities including:
n HWL Board
n Sitting on Strategic Boards, Forums,
Groups and Meetings
n Quarterly meetings held with
University Hospitals of Leicestershire,
Leicestershire NHS Partnership Trust,
East Midlands Ambulance Services and
Arriva Transport Solutions Ltd
n Engagement Activities
n Enter & View Working Group

29

162
Healthwatch Annual Review 2017-18

How we involve the public and volunteers
Volunteer Testimonies
We asked some of our volunteers to share their experience of volunteering for Healthwatch
Leicestershire over the years, below is what they told us.
“The last 12 months have been busy for
my part of Healthwatch Leicestershire.
We saw the introduction of the Help
to Live at Home project, a culmination
of 2 years’ work in partnership with
Leicestershire County Council and NHS CCG
County bodies. In addition, I continued to
represent Leicestershire’s communities at
Leicestershire County Council’s Overview
& Scrutiny Committee, ensuring informed
debate on issues such as the Adults &
Communities Strategy, Local Accounts and
other initiatives.
I also chaired a quarterly meeting with the
Directors of Adults & Communities, Children
and Families and Public Health. In these
meetings we were able to discuss the Councils
plans and ensure local citizens were part of the
planning cycles.
I was invited to sit on the Public Health group
reviewing contract performances to highlight
issues from a patient perspective.
I also sat on the initial programme board
looking at the introduction of a single point of
access across the Health & Care sectors, this
work is still ongoing.
Together with my colleague, Sue Staples, also
a Healthwatch Leicestershire Board member,
we represented Healthwatch Leicestershire
on the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Information Sharing group, alongside the three
local authorities, NHS and CQC with a view to
ensuring vulnerable residents were being cared
for appropriately and protected.
I sat as the Healthwatch Leicestershire
participating observer on the West
Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
Board, where I was able to promote patient’s

30

involvement, equality of access and feedback
on the issues that we heard from local
communities. I was invited to sit on the West
Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Groups
Primary Care Commissioning Committee in
both the Public and Confidential meetings. This
gave Healthwatch Leicestershire an opportunity
to contribute to the development of primary
care from a patient and carer perspective.
I have been proud to present the impressive
Healthwatch Leicestershire reports to CCG
meetings, together with Adults & Communities
Overview and Scrutiny meetings and a Health
Overview and Scrutiny meeting.
I truly believe that, since its inception,
Healthwatch Leicestershire has made a
significant contribution to the development of
Health and Social Care services throughout
Leicestershire. We have listened to communities
and fed back their concerns, we have worked
with commissioners and providers to help
them understand community thoughts and
then supported those organisations to deliver
appropriate services in the right places. We
have challenged in a critical friend way, we
have investigated
different
services and
we have helped
communities to
have their say.
I believe that
commissioners and
providers value
this input as it has
helped shape the
way forward for
Fiona Barber
services”.
– Healthwatch Leicestershire
Board member

163
Healthwatch Leicestershire

“As a representative for Healthwatch
Leicestershire, I was honoured to become
a trusted patient voice on Trust Boards
and the participating observer on Boards
such as the Leicestershire Partnership
Trust Board and the East Leicestershire
and Rutland CCG Governing body,
allowing me to influence decisions,
promote patient engagement, scrutiny
and challenge.
I enjoyed working closely but independently
with stakeholder engagement teams on
various joint engagement projects related to
urgent care, maternity care, Sustainability and
Transformational Plans and being trained as
an NHS patient Leader to make a difference.
I was proud to have led the Healthwatch
Leicestershire Enter & View (E&V)
Safeguarding group, written and introduced
E&V Guidelines and standards plus training a
team of authorised representatives.
We were also included as a stakeholder as
part of the Leicestershire County Council
Safeguarding Effectiveness group as well
as the CQC Information Sharing group
discussing all aspects of care homes
and domiciliary care across Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland, reporting to the
Quality Surveillance group.

“As Chair of the predecessor of
Healthwatch Leicestershire, I was on the
transition group to secure a substantive
Board for Healthwatch Leicestershire
including the recruitment of a Chair.
The first thing I noticed was the huge increase
in the work load, heavily influenced by the
changes to the Health and Social Care Act. In
particular the increase in project Boards and
Groups below Trust and CCG Boards and the
new multi-agency organisations which had
been set up to deliver integration.
The most
pleasing aspect of
my Healthwatch
experience, was
the introduction
of specific
evidenced based
projects, for
example: A Week
in A&E, Support
for Cancer
Patients and our
Carers work. This
has given us the
best chance, as
proved, to enable
change”.

John Baker
– Healthwatch Leicestershire
Board member

Healthwatch
Leicestershire
has provided
me continued
opportunity
to be involved
and influence
Healthcare
systems”.
Sue Staples
– Healthwatch Leicestershire
Board member

31

164

Healthwatch Leicestershire
Voluntary Action LeicesterShire
9 Newarke Street,
Leicester, LE1 5SN

0116 2574 999
info@healthwatchleics.co.uk

www.healthwatchleicestershire.co.uk

Address of contractors:
Strategy Business Intelligence
Chief Executives Department
County Hall,
Leicester Road, Glenfield,
Leicester, LE3 8RA

We will be making this annual report publicly available by 29th June 2018 by publishing it on our
website and circulating it to Healthwatch England, CQC, NHS England, Clinical Commissioning
Group/s, Overview and Scrutiny Committee/s, and our local authority. We confirm that we are using
the Healthwatch Trademark (which covers the logo and Healthwatch brand) when undertaking work
on our statutory activities as covered by the license agreement.
If you require this report in an alternative format please contact Healthwatch Leicestershire on the
address above.

32

Voluntary Action LeicesterShire (VAL). is the
contract holder for Healthwatch Leicestershire

165

Contact Person
Company Name
Email Address
Telephone number
Web site address

Kevan Liles
Voluntary Action Leicestershire
phil.w@valonline.org.uk
0116 2575039
www.healthwatchleicestershire.co.uk

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE: Thursday 05 April 2018
Health Watchdog launches its final annual report
Healthwatch Leicestershire is today releasing its Annual Report 2017-18.
Since the launch of Healthwatch five years ago, Healthwatch Leicestershire,
commissioned by Leicestershire County Council has delivered a high-quality service
run by Voluntary Action Leicestershire (VAL).
From 1 April 2018, there is a new Healthwatch arrangement for Leicestershire and
Leicester City and a new provider, Engaging Communities Staffordshire (ECS), will
pick up the reins when the contract held by VAL comes to an end.
Rick Moore, Chair of Healthwatch Leicestershire said,
“Our Annual Report 2017-18 is our final report and another great example of the
amazing work the Healthwatch Leicestershire team have consistently produced
throughout the years. I would like to thank all of the staff, representatives and
volunteers who have supported this work. I am extremely proud to have been part
of the journey”.
Over the five years, Healthwatch Leicestershire has written over 50 reports and
publications of patient experience. This Annual Report highlights the impacts the
work of Healthwatch Leicestershire has had at a Local and National level and covers
issues around urgent and emergency services, mental health, hospital discharge,
Fibromyalgia, GP services and much more.
At a national level, Healthwatch Leicestershire contributed to research released by
Healthwatch England that outlines where important steps have been made towards
improving the hospital discharge process for patients. At a local level, this led to
Healthwatch Leicestershire being part of multiple training seminars to healthcare
professionals including consultants and senior nurses, to improve the discharging of
patients.
Shinning a light on Fibromyalgia, Healthwatch Leicestershire spoke to almost 1,000
people to highlight the issues people face living with this long-term condition that
causes pain all over the body. In partnership with The Shuttlewood Clarke
Foundation and the University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust, a Top Ten Tips

166
poster for living with Fibromyalgia was sent to all GP Practices across Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland as an informative tool for GPs.
Kathleen Wass, Support Services Manager at Shuttlewood Clarke Foundation
commented;
“We’re pleased Healthwatch Leicestershire are raising awareness of Fibromyalgia
and are working to improve the services for people living with the disease. Following
a meeting with a representative from the local NHS, facilitated by Healthwatch, we
have jointly produced our top 10 tips for living with fibromyalgia, which has been
circulated to 28,000 people including 12,000 health professionals; this will certainly
help to raise awareness of Fibromyalgia.”
In a statement, University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust said,
“We recognise that as this fiscal year draws to a close some of the governance and
people in Healthwatch Leicestershire will change, we will miss them as colleagues
and critical friends and on behalf of the very many staff who they have worked with
over the last few years we wish them well and thank them for their insight,
understanding and support”.
Professor Mayur Lakhani, Chair of West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
said,
“As a CCG chair, I have really valued the work of Healthwatch and the effective
partnership that we have forged. I have admired their rigorous approach to
measuring patient feedback and the quality of their reports is very high. The
feedback has been useful to providers in improving services. Another area of success
has been their contribution to the governing body of WLCCG.”
Read the full Healthwatch Leicestershire report at:
http://www.valonline.org.uk/healthwatch-leicestershire-releases-annual-report201718
Notes to Editors:
About Healthwatch Leicestershire
Healthwatch Leicestershire is an independent consumer champion for health and social care in
Leicestershire. The organisation helps to shape and improve local health and social care in our
community. Healthwatch Leicestershire is part of the Healthwatch national network, established by
the Government to ensure local patients and users have a greater input to shaping and designing
local services. https://www.healthwatchleicestershire.co.uk/
About Healthwatch England
Healthwatch is the independent champion for people who use health and social care services. We
exist to ensure that people are at the heart of care. We listen to what people like about services,
and what could be improved and we share their views with those with the power to make change
happen. We also help people find the information they need about services in their area.
We have the power to ensure that people’s voices are heard by the government and those running
services. As well as seeking the public’s views ourselves, we also encourage services to involve
people in decisions that affect them. Our sole purpose is to help make care better for people.
www.healthwatch.co.uk @HealthwatchE

Healthwatch Leicester City and Leicestershire

Agenda Item 14

Health and Wellbeing Board 24 May 2018

167

The independent consumer champion in Leicester City
and Leicestershire; inspiring change, improving
outcomes for local communities

Summary

168

• Introduction to Engaging Communities Staffordshire
• Background
• Governance
• Service delivery
• Vision
• Local landscape
• Service accessibility

Who are Engaging Communities
Staffordshire (ECS)?

169

Who are Engaging Communities
Staffordshire (ECS)?
ECS is a Community Interest Company (CIC)
which means it is a special type of company
set up to benefit the local community it serves
rather than share holders.

Our mission is to Inspire Change and
Improve Outcomes for local people.

170

This means we are a “Not for profit”
company.

Robert Francis QC

171

“Statistics and reports were
preferred to patient experience data,
with a focus on systems, not
outcomes”

Background
First Mid-Staffs Investigation
Initial Public and Patient Involvement project in Staffordshire
“Liberating the NHS” sets out plans for Healthwatch, influenced by the thinking around ECS
Public consultation on ECS concept
Launch of ECS
Francis Inquiry
ECS starts delivering HW Staffordshire
HW England Award
Advocacy service starts
Providing HW Wolverhampton
Providing NHS Complaints Advocacy Telford
Providing HW Walsall
Providing HW Solihull
Providing HW Halton & Advocacy HUB
Providing HW Leicester and Leicestershire

172

Mar 2009:
Nov 2009:
Jul 2010:
Dec 2011:
Mar 2012:
Feb 2013:
Apr 2013:
Jul 2014:
Feb 2015:
Apr 2016:
Apr 2016:
Jun 2016:
Jul 2017:
Apr 2018:
Apr 2018:

ECS Services
Research and Insight

Information and Signposting
Advocacy
Complaints

173

Community Engagement

ECS Governance Structure.
Innovative
Engagement

Healthwatch
Advisory Board
- Solihull

Staff and
Resources
ECS Board

Healthwatch
Advisory Board
– Leicester City
and
Leicestershire

174

Joint Chair
Forum

Healthwatch
Advisory Board
- Halton

Local Priorities

Healthwatch
Advisory Board
– Staffordshire

Healthwatch
Advisory Board
- Walsall
Healthwatch
Advisory Board Wolverhampton

Delivery

175

Vision

176

• Independent body – not reluctant to represent views and opinions
• Stable and sustainable
• Trusted, respected and influential
• Accountable to the communities served
• Making a difference for local residents and communities
Underpinned by the core values
• Public focussed
• Evidence based
• Prudent

Leicester and Leicestershire Healthwatch
Management structure
Executive Director
Simon Fogell

Corporate support
(Governance and
Finance) & Research

177

Local HW Manager
Micheal Smith

Engagement and
Information Lead

Community
Outreach Lead

Community
Outreach Lead

Community
Outreach Lead

Community
Outreach Lead

Independent Consumer Champion- engaging all
communities, providing access for all

178

• Innovative engagement methodologies
• Tailored and targeted outreach- utilising existing networks and
community venues
• Parity of access geographically and demographically
• Proven track record in similar geographic locality
• Support effective feedback mechanisms
• Seldom heard and vulnerable groups- no preconceptions

Local Landscape: Strategic context and
relationships

179

• Robust strategic operating framework - ensuring local
Healthwatch is integral to local bodies, including HWBB(s) & STP
• Expert knowledge on national health and social care economy
• Aware of all key drivers for change and political agendas; able to
utilise local intelligence to influence decision makers
• Excellent networking credentials; Creating a diverse champion
partnership network throughout Leicester City and Leicestershire
• Able to identify, understand and incorporate local challenges and
opportunities into established ECS Healthwatch operating model

Local Landscape: Challenges and opportunities

180

• Challenging financial landscape vs. delivering value for money
• Duplication and poor communication vs. Healthwatch as central
intelligence and research HUB for Leicester City and
Leicestershire
• Lack of collaboration vs. established collaboration with
universities, third sector and creation of local/regional HW
network
• Obstacles to STP public engagement vs. ECS STP Ambassador
programme
• Complex landscape for public to navigate vs. Central point for
information, signposting and advocacy

Local Landscape: Prioritisation of emerging
issues

181

• Review existing work programmes and priorities
• Stakeholder consultation undertaken
• Engagement and consultation undertaken with public
• Innovative communications strategy developed
Key outcomes : New priorities agreed supported by focussed work
programme that addresses the needs of local communities and informs
them with regular progress reports in multiple media channels i.e.
newsletters, social media – Twitter, Facebook, Instagram YouTube etc

Service Accessibility: Volunteers and community
networks

182

• Volunteers as the key to successful service delivery, growth and capacity building
– ‘the eyes and ears of our organisation’
• ECS commitment to recruitment and retention of volunteers (Investing in
Volunteers Accreditation)
• Variety of roles; Advisory Board, Enter and View, research, engagement utilising existing volunteer network to increase brand awareness and
accessibility into Healthwatch Leicester and Leicestershire
Outcomes achieved: Robust network of volunteers and champion
organisations representative of their communities helping to make an
impact in a refreshed partnership model – no pre-conceived ideas on what
constitutes success. We are open to change and to develop innovative
partnerships

Service Accessibility: our approach

183

• Assessment of socio- economic groups to ensure equal
representation
• Commitment to continual re-evaluation of our approach
• Partner with existing groups to become ‘Champion’ organisations
• Create a Leicester and Leicestershire Champion Network
• ECS dedicated ‘Hidden Groups Lead’ enhancing our offer in Leicester
City and Leicestershire
• Recognition of local priorities to inform HW work programme

Service Accessibility: overcoming obstacles

184

• Utilising CRM to target under represented communities
• Overcoming ‘rurality’ through outreach work and grass roots
engagement
• Appreciation of wider determinants to health - housing,
employment, social isolation, education and conducting
collaborative engagement
• Language and communication
• Adopting a flexible approach - responsive to changing needs of local
communities

Service accessibility: Delivery of Healthwatch
efficiently and effectively

185

• Adequate resources to deliver contract (staff/premises/equipment)
• Ensure representation at Boards and statutory body committees etc
• Regular liaison with key stakeholders (Councils, CCG, Trusts etc)
• Enter and View programme (focussed with timely reports)
• Regular engagement with communities
• Signposting – undertaken effectively with commercial support
• Experience Exchange implemented and other digital platforms
• Promoting HW and its role in the health and social care economy
• Escalation to HWE appropriate issues – track record Orthotics

Service accessibility: ensuring sustainability and
increasing Healthwatch brand awareness

186

• Economies of scale ( ECS – 6 HW Contracts)
• Locally based social enterprise maintained
• Strong financial and performance management procedures
• Robust training and development programme to assist staff and
volunteers reach their full potential
• Trading – secure commissioned work and trade for other suitable
business opportunities that do not conflict with HW role

Questions?

187

This page is intentionally left blank

